LCA TERREBONNE BASIN BARRIER SHORELINE RESTORATION STUDY

ANNEX L-5 RISK ANALYSES FOR THE INITIAL RESTORATION OF THE NER PLAN AND FIRST COMPONENT OF CONSTRUCTION



Louisiana Coastal Authority Terrebonne Basin Barrier Shoreline Restoration

Integrated Feasibility Study and Environmental Impact Statement

Project Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis Report National Ecosystem Restoration Plan

Prepared for:

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, New Orleans District

Prepared by:

SJB Group, LLC. & Coastal Engineering Consultants, Inc. Under contract from Louisiana Office of Coastal Protection and Restoration

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTI | VE SUMMARY ES-1 |
|---------------------------------|---|
| 1.0 PURPC | DSE1 |
| 2.0 BACK(| GROUND1 |
| 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 | PARTICIPATING AGENCIES 1 STUDY AUTHORIZATION 1 STUDY PURPOSE 2 STUDY LOCATION 2 NATIONAL ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION PLAN 3 |
| 3.0 REPOR | AT SCOPE4 |
| 3.1 3.2 | STUDY SCOPE |
| 4.0 METH | ODOLOGY / PROCESS5 |
| 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 | IDENTIFY POTENTIAL RISK FACTORS |
| 5.0 KEY A | SSUMPTIONS11 |
| 6.0 RISK A | NALYSIS RESULTS11 |
| 6.1 6.2 6.3 | Cost Risk Analysis Contingency Results |
| 7.0 MAJOI | R FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS / RECOMMENDATIONS17 |
| 7.1 7.2 | MAJOR FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS |
| 8.0 REFER | 24.24 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table ES-1. NER Plan Cost Summary - Program Year (2012) Project CostE | S-1 |
|---|------------|
| Table ES-2. NER Plan Cost Summary - Fully Funded Project CostE | S-2 |
| Table 1. Topics and Work Breakdown Structure Analyzed | 6 |
| Table 2. Initial Restoration Project Cost Estimate with Contingencies Summary for | |
| NER Plan Contract No. 1 | 12 |
| Table 3. Initial Restoration Project Cost Estimate with Contingencies Summary - NER | ર |
| Plan Contract No. 2 | 12 |
| Table 4. Initial Restoration Project Construction Schedule with Contingencies | |
| Summary - NER Plan Contract No. 1 | 13 |
| Table 5. Initial Restoration Project Construction Schedule with Contingencies | |
| Summary - NER Plan Contract No. 2 | 13 |
| Table 6. Baseline Construction Cost Comparison Summary for the Initial Restoration | |
| of NER Plan Contract No. 1 | 18 |
| Table 7. Baseline Construction Cost Comparison Summary for the Initial Restoration | |
| of NER Plan Contract No. 2 | 19 |
| Table 8. Baseline Construction Schedule Comparison Summary for the Initial | |
| Restoration of NER Plan Contract No. 1 | 20 |
| Table 9. Baseline Construction Schedule Comparison Summary for the Initial | |
| Restoration of NER Plan Contract No. 2 | 21 |
| Table 10. NER Plan Cost Summary - Program Year (2012) Project Cost | 22 |
| Table 11. NER Plan Cost Summary - Fully Funded Project Cost | 22 |
| | |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. | Cost Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 1 | 15 |
|-----------|---|----|
| Figure 2. | Cost Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 2 | 15 |
| Figure 3. | Schedule Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 1 | 16 |
| Figure 4. | Schedule Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 2 | 16 |

LIST OF APPENDICES

Detailed Risk Registers...... ATTACHMENT A

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents a recommendation for the total project cost and schedule contingencies for initial restoration of the National Ecosystem Restoration (NER) Plan of the Louisiana Coastal Authority, Terrebonne Basin Barrier Shoreline Restoration Study in Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes, Louisiana. The NER Plan includes the initial restoration of Whiskey Island to a design of Plan C with renourishment events in Target Year (TY) 20 and 40; Trinity Island to a design of Plan C with renourishment event in TY25: Raccoon Island to a design of Plan E with Terminal Groin with terminal groin O&M in TY10 and renourishment in TY30; and Timbalier Island to a design of Plan E with renourishment in TY30. The renourishment in TY20 and TY40 for Whiskey Island would be to add a design of Plan C and Plan B, respectively. The renourishment of Trinity Island in TY25 would be to add a design of Plan C. The renourishment of Raccoon Island and Timbalier in TY30 would be to restore to a design of Plan B. In compliance with Engineer Regulation (ER) 1110-2-1302 Civil Works Cost Engineering, dated September 15, 2008, a formal risk analysis study was conducted for the development of contingency on the total project cost for the initial restoration and none of the operation and maintenance construction activities. The purpose of this risk analysis study was to establish project contingencies by identifying and measuring the cost and schedule impact of project uncertainties with respect to the estimated project cost for the initial restoration of the four islands.

The most likely program year (2012) baseline project cost for initial restoration of the four islands is estimated to be approximately \$517.6 Million. Based on the results of the analysis it is recommended that a contingency and escalation value of approximately \$171.5 Million, or 33.1%, be added to the total project cost for a fully funded cost of \$689.0 Million.

The following tables ES-1 and ES-2 present both the baseline cost and fully funded project cost, respectively, of the initial restoration component for the NER Plan based on the anticipated contract. The cost is intended to address the congressional request of project cost estimates to implement the project. The contingency is based on an 80% confidence level, as per U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Civil Works guidance.

| | LCA TBBSR NER Plan Total Project Costs | Program Year Cost | Contingency ¹ | Program Year Total Cost ² | |
|----|---|----------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$545,489 | \$163,647 | \$709,136 | |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5 821 200 | |
| | (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$3,821,200 | Included | \$3,821,200 | |
| 10 | Breakwaters & Seawalls | \$1,833,379 | \$500,239 | \$2,332,618 | |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$462,893,681 | \$129,859,981 | \$592,753,662 | |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$23,234,414 | \$6,594,157 | \$29,828,571 | |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$23,236,463 | \$6,594,739 | \$29,831,202 | |
| | Total Project Costs | \$517,564,626 | \$143,712,763 | \$661,276,389 | |

Table ES-1. NER Plan Cost Summary - Program Year (2012)Initial Restoration Project Cost

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

Table ES-2. NER Plan Cost SummaryFully Funded Initial Restoration Project Cost

| | LCA TBBSR NER Plan Total Project Costs | Program Year Cost | Total Contingencies & Escalations ¹ | Fully Funded Total ² |
|----|---|----------------------|---|---------------------------------------|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$545,489 | \$169,355 | \$714,844 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 10 | Breakwaters & Seawalls | \$1,833,379 | \$661,017 | \$2,494,396 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$462,893,681 | \$155,985,226 | \$618,878,907 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$23,234,414 | \$6,845,778 | \$30,080,192 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$23,236,463 | \$7,804,553 | \$31,041,016 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$517,564,626 | \$171,465,929 | \$689,030,555 |

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

KEY FINDINGS/OBSERVATIONS/RECOMMENDATIONS

The key cost risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the NER Plan Contract No. 1 (Whiskey, Trinity, and Raccoon Islands) are Internal Risks PED-11 (Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune - Ship Shoal Borrow Area) in additional to External Risks PR-2 (Fuel Prices), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-7 (Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market), and

PR-8 (Pipeline Steel Prices) which together contribute 99.3% of the statistical cost variance.

The key cost risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the NER Plan Contract No. 2 (Timbalier Island) are Internal Risks PED-11 (Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune - South Pelto Borrow Area) in additional to External Risks PR-2 (Fuel Prices), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-7 (Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market), and PR-8 (Pipeline Steel Prices) which together contribute 99.3% of the statistical cost variance.

The key schedule risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the NER Plan are External Risks PR-1 (Sponsor's Ability to Fund its Share), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-4 (Delays due to Design Modifications), and PR-10 (Dredge Acquisition), which together contribute 96.4% and 97.4% of the statistical schedule variance for Contracts No. 1 and No 2, respectively.

Recommendations, as detailed within the main report, include the implementation of cost and schedule contingencies, further iterative study of risks throughout the project lifecycle, potential mitigation throughout the Planning, Engineering & Design phase, and proactive monitoring and control of risk identified in this study.

1.0 Purpose

The purpose of this report is to present the findings and results of the Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis for the Louisiana Coastal Authority, Terrebonne Basin Barrier Shoreline Restoration Study (LCA TBBSR). The results presented in this report include the recommended contingencies to be added to the base estimate cost for the initial restoration component of the National Ecosystem Restoration (NER) Plan. Additionally, to provide confidence that the actual project execution costs will be within the resulting estimated budget value. Furthermore, the scope of the report includes the identification and communication of important steps, logic, key assumptions, limitations, and decisions to help ensure that risk analysis results can be appropriately interpreted. The results presented herein are intended to provide project leadership with contingency information for scheduling, budgeting, and project control purposes, as well as, provide tools to support decision making and risk management as the project progresses through Planning, Engineering & Design and project implementation.

2.0 STUDY BACKGROUND

2.1 PARTICIPATING AGENCIES

The responsible lead Federal agency for this study is the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) - Mississippi Valley, New Orleans District. The non-Federal sponsor for the study is Louisiana Office of Coastal Protection and Restoration.

2.2 STUDY AUTHORIZATION

Title VII of the Water Resources Development Act (WRDA) 2007 authorizes the LCA ecosystem restoration program. Included within that authority are requirements for comprehensive coastal restoration planning, program governance, a Science and Technology Program, a program for the beneficial use of dredged material, feasibility studies for restoration plans, project modification investigations, and restoration project construction, in addition to other program elements. This authorization was recommended by the Chief of Engineer's Report, dated January 31, 2005.

Under the 2007 WRDA Section 7006, the LCA program has authority for feasibilitylevel reports of six near-term critical restoration features of which includes the LCA TBBSR Study.

2.3 STUDY PURPOSE

The purpose of the proposed action is to address the goal of the 2004 LCA Plan; specifically, to address the critical near-term needs for shoreline restoration in Terrebonne Basin through simulation of historical conditions, which will be achieved by enlarging the existing barrier islands (width and dune crest) and reducing the current number of breaches. Additional objectives include analyzing the current conditions of the barrier islands, assessing impacts from the hurricanes of 2005 and 2008, and reaffirming the validity of the findings of the Final Environmental Impact Statement. The Integrated Feasibility Study and Environmental Impact Statement is based on a thorough review of existing scientific and engineering reports, as well as geospatial, survey, and geotechnical data.

2.4 STUDY LOCATION

The LCA TBBSR, located in LCA Subprovince 3, provides for the restoration of the Timbalier and Isles Dernieres barrier island reaches located in Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes, Louisiana. The Study area is located in the 3rd Congressional District.

The Isles Dernieres Reach

The Isles Dernieres reach represents a barrier island arc approximately 22 miles long in Terrebonne Parish and extends from Caillou Bay east to Cat Island Pass. Raccoon Island, Whiskey Island, Trinity Island, East Island, and Wine Island, the primary islands that comprise the Isles Dernieres barrier island chain, are backed by Bay Blanc, Bay Round, Caillou Bay, and Terrebonne Bay, and bordered by the Gulf of Mexico on the seaward side. The islands range from approximately 0.1 to 1.2 miles wide and are generally composed of a thin sand cap over a thick mud platform. Elevations are generally low and the islands are frequently over washed.

The Isles Dernieres have been and continue to be an important commercial and recreational resource for Louisiana and the nation for more than 150 years. The islands support habitats that are critical to the State's commercial fishing industry. Furthermore, the mineral-rich subsurface of the island range supports a high concentration of active oil and gas wells.

The first major coastal resort in Louisiana was located here and was washed away by the great hurricane of 1856. The Isles Dernieres have also been the location of five Coastal Wetland Planning, Protection, and Restoration Act projects. These projects included:

Raccoon Island (TE-29), Whiskey Island (TE-27), Trinity Island (TE-24), East Island (TE-20), and New Cut (TE-37).

The Timbalier Islands Reach

The Timbalier Islands reach is comprised of Timbalier Island and East Timbalier Island. The two islands are on the western edge of the Lafourche barrier shoreline and are located about 60 miles southwest of New Orleans, Louisiana. This barrier island shoreline is approximately 20 miles long and backed by Terrebonne and Timbalier Bay to the north and delimited by Raccoon Pass to the east and Cat Island Pass to the west. The islands range from 0.1 to 0.6 miles wide and have low elevations. The Timbalier Islands support onshore and offshore oil and gas development and production. Oil and gas production facilities are prevalent along East Timbalier Island, while only a few scattered facilities are present along Timbalier Island.

2.5 NATIONAL ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION PLAN

The NER Plan restores the geomorphologic form and ecologic function of the four islands in the Terrebonne Basin barrier system. Immediately after construction (TY1), the NER Plan will add 3,283 acres of habitat (dune, intertidal, and supratidal) to the existing island footprints of Raccoon, Whiskey, Trinity, and Timbalier Islands, increasing the total size of the islands to 5,840 acres. This includes approximately 472 acres of dune, 4,320 acres of supratidal habitat, and 1,048 acres of intertidal habitat. Raccoon Island will be renourished at TY30 by adding adequate sediment such that the dune and supratidal beach acres would be equivalent to that of a newly constructed Plan B template. Whiskey Island will require two renourishment intervals. The first will occur at TY20 and will include the addition of the same amount of dune and supratidal beach habitat that was originally created in TY1. The second renourishment interval will occur at TY40 and will include the addition of the same amount of dune and supratidal beach habitat needed to construct a Plan B template. Trinity Island will be renourished at TY25 by adding the same amount of dune and supratidal beach habitat that was originally added in TY1. Timbalier Island will be renourished at TY30 by adding adequate sediment such that the dune and supratidal beach habitat acres would be equivalent to the acres of a newly constructed Plan B template. The renourishment events were not evaluated in this risk analysis.

The barrier island restoration features of the initial restoration would achieve the planning objectives by maximizing the barrier island's ability to provide geomorphic and hydrologic form and ecological function, as well as, improve critical barrier island habitats for fish, migratory birds, and other terrestrial and aquatic species. Sediment would be placed into the system to supplement long-shore sediment transport processes

along the gulf shoreline by mechanically introducing compatible sediment, and increasing the ability of the restored area to continue to function and provide habitat with minimum continuing intervention.

The NER Plan is the best and meets the goal of the 2004 LCA Plan to address critical near-term needs for shoreline restoration for Terrebonne Basin through simulating historical conditions by enlarging the barrier islands (width and dune crest) and reducing the current number of breaches to ensure the continuing geomorphic and ecological form and function of the barrier islands. The selection of the NER Plan was based on a thorough review of existing scientific and engineering reports, as well as geospatial, survey, and geotechnical data which reaffirmed that the findings of the Final Environmental Impact Statement remained valid.

The NER Plan is also the plan that best meets the USACE Principles and Guidelines of completeness, effectiveness, efficiency, and acceptability, as well as the Environmental Operating Principles of environmental sustainability, interdependence, balance and synergy, accountability, knowledge, respect, and assessing and mitigating cumulative impacts.

3.0 REPORT SCOPE

3.1 PROJECT SCOPE

Engineering Circular Bulletin (ECB) 2007-17, Application of Cost Risk Analysis Methods to Develop Contingencies for Civil Works Total Project Costs (Sept. 10, 2007) requires that a formal risk analysis be prepared for all decision documents requiring Congressional authorization whose total costs are in excess of forty million dollars.

In addition to broadly defined risk analysis standards and recommended practices, a risk analysis is to be performed to meet the requirements and recommendations of the following documents and sources:

- Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis Process guidance prepared by the USACE Cost Engineering Directory of Expertise for Civil Works (Cost Engineering Dx), dated May 17, 2009.
- Engineer Regulation (ER) 1110-2-1302 Civil Works Cost Engineering, dated Sept. 15, 2008.
- Engineer Technical Letter (ETL) 1110-2-573 Construction Cost Estimating Guide for Civil Works, dated Sept. 30, 2008.

3.2 USACE RISK ANALYSIS PROCESS

A risk analysis is performed to determine the probability of various cost and schedule variances that could affect the total project cost. The analyses of the cost risk factors associated with the project will determine the required contingency needed in the cost estimate to achieve any desired level of cost confidence. A similar analysis is also used to determine the probability of various project schedule duration impacts and then quantify the required schedule contingency needed in the schedule to achieve any desired level of schedule confidence. Together the contingency for both cost and schedule will provide a total project cost and schedule at the desired confidence level.

The risk analysis process uses Monte Carlo techniques to determine probabilities and contingency. The Monte Carlo techniques are facilitated computationally by a commercially available risk analysis software package (Crystal Ball) that is an add-in to Microsoft Excel. The software determines contingency amounts based on specific 'confidence levels'. These confidence levels express the probability that the corresponding contingency amount will cover the cost of the project being studied.

In general, the amount of contingency included in project control plans depends on the project leadership's willingness to accept risk of project overruns. The less risk that project leadership is willing to accept, the more contingency that should be applied in the project control plans. This risk of overrun is expressed by Crystal Ball in a probabilistic context using confidence levels. The Cost Engineering Dx guidance for cost and schedule risk analysis focuses on risk and opportunity potential, all project features, internal and external risks to the project. The Cost Engineering Dx recommends budget presentation with a contingency value at the eighty-percent level of confidence (80%) for successful project execution within the established budget. This 80% confidence level is the standard normally provided to Congress by USACE and other Government agencies.

4.0 METHODOLOGY / PROCESS

A risk analysis begins with the identification of risk factors for the restoration. The risk identification process includes the major PDT members knowledgeable with the potential impacts. The risks are then compared for commonalities with other risk factors and a preliminary risk register is developed for risk level assignment. Following risk level evaluation and assignment, those risk factor found to have 'moderate' or 'high' impact risks are carried forward to the final risk register and quantified. The final risk register serves as the risk models used within the Crystal Ball software. These primary steps of the risk analysis process, in functional terms, are described in the following subsections.

4.1 IDENTIFY POTENTIAL RISK FACTORS

The risk analysis process began with a brainstorming session to identify any and all potential risk factors associated with the project. These potential risks were then evaluated to determine if correlations existed between any of the potential risk factors. Risk factors that were determined to have correlations were analyzed to determine the nature of the correlation. If strong correlations existed then the factors were combined into a single risk factor. If correlations were determined wherein the risk factors had similarities but contained inherent differences, the factors were revised and/or additional risk factors were added such that all risks could be evaluated individually.

The risks developed and refined during the brainstorming sessions were transferred into a risk register template in Microsoft Excel as the Initial Risk Register (ATTACHMENT A).

4.2 REFINE RISK REGISTER AND ASSIGN RISK LEVELS

The initial risk register was structured such that elements of risk were assigned under a topic and feature code and given a risk factor number allowing traceability throughout the process. Similar to the identification and assessment process, risk factor quantification involved the evaluation of the impact of the risk on the project. The risk factors were assigned a likelihood of occurrence and a level of impact the risk would have on the project cost or schedule. Table 1 provides a listing of the topics and feature codes evaluated in this risk assessment.

| PPM | Project and Program Management |
|-----|--|
| 01 | Lands and Damages |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) |
| 10 | Breakwaters & Seawalls |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design |
| 31 | Construction Management |
| PR | Programmatic Risks |

Table 1. Topics and Work Breakdown Structure Analyzed

4.3 DEVELOP FINAL RISK REGISTER AND QUANTIFY RISK FACTORS

Those risk factors determined to have a 'moderate' or 'high' impact on the project cost or schedule were carried forward to the final risk register and quantified.

The quantification process involved collaboration between the ATR review lead, District cost engineers, and the A/E cost estimators. This process used an iterative approach to estimate the following elements of each risk factor:

- Maximum possible value for the risk factor (high value, worst-case)
- Minimum possible value for the risk factor (low value, best-case)
- Most likely value (the original estimate value, if applicable)
- Nature of the probability density function used to approximate risk factor uncertainty
- Correlations between risk factors
- Affected cost and/or schedule elements

Information was extracted from the cost estimates and placed into the final cost risk register for cost risk analysis purposes (Attachment A). For the schedule risk analysis, the durations for each risk (if applicable) were placed into a final schedule risk register (Attachment A).

4.3.1 Contingency Risk Factors

The following are those elements analyzed in the cost and schedule risk models to determine the appropriate contingencies.

4.3.1.1 Beach/Dune and Marsh Fill Design Quantities (Cost & Schedule)

The island design was developed utilizing survey data collected in 2006 as part of the Louisiana Barrier Island Comprehensive Monitoring Program (UNO and USGS, 2009). Through the use of shoreline erosion and landloss rates in the above referenced program, the fill volumes required in 2012 for beach/dune and marsh were calculated. A risk variance of +/-10% of the required volume was used to evaluate the risk associated with a decrease or increase in the erosional effects experienced by the island during this six year period in addition to a storm event proceeding or during construction. The variances in beach/dune and marsh required volumes were analyzed as separate risk elements so as to assess the risk if the beach/dune and marsh fill template experience differing erosional influences.

4.3.1.2 Geotechnical Issues with the Beach/Dune and Marsh Fill Borrow Areas (Cost and Schedule)

The sediment characteristics of the proposed borrow areas for beach/dune and marsh construction were analyzed from data collected within these borrow sources as part of

designs for other restoration projects. Projected dredge-to-fill ratios were established and used in the production estimates for the dredge during construction of the beach/dune and marsh fill templates. To quantify variances induced by differing sediment characteristics that could be experienced within the borrow areas proposed for beach/dune fill and the marsh fill, differing ratios better than and worse than the most likely dredge-to-fill were evaluated for their affect on the construction cost. Sediment characteristics are one of three driving forces in determining production rates for the dredging equipment.

4.3.1.3 Sponsor's Ability to Fund Its Share (Schedule)

A delay of eighteen months in the procurement of funds to begin construction of the project was evaluated. The low risk was assumed to be the same as the most likely schedule for construction. The high risk was analyzed as a delay for the beginning of construction.

4.3.1.4 Fuel Prices (Cost)

Overall affects of fuel prices on construction cost were analyzed. The most likely fuel price was derived from an average of fuel prices for 2009. A lower risk assumes the price of fuel would fall by as much as 25% from the 2009 average. A higher risk assumes that a volatile market could increase fuel prices by as much as 60% above the 2009 average price.

4.3.1.5 Severe Weather Downtime (Cost & Schedule)

The effects of dredging material in the open Gulf of Mexico on the dredge's effective operational hours per day were evaluated. A dredge may experience higher average operational time per day during periods of favorable weather and conversely experience lower than average operational time during periods of increases sea state such as during winter months. The most likely, worst case, and best case operational time per day were established by review of USACE prior dredging projects. Operational time of the dredging equipment is one of three driving forces in determining production rates for the dredging equipment.

4.3.1.6 Delays due to Design Modifications (Schedule)

Following pre-construction surveys of the fill templates, design modification may be required to adjust the fill templates to maximize effectiveness of the island restoration. Through prior restoration project experience of the design team, a two month delay in beginning construction was considered as the high risk variance for the project schedule.

4.3.1.7 Long Pipeline to Island for Beach/Dune Fill (Cost & Schedule)

In development of the dredging production rates, it was determined that it was feasible to construct the beach/dune fill template using as few as two boosters from the borrow area to the fill template. The most likely number of boosters the contractor would use is three to maintain higher production rates. The number of booster pumps utilized in the delivery of sediment to the fill template is one of three driving forces in determining the production rates for the dredging equipment. Construction cost and schedule variances were calculated to evaluate the affects on project cost and schedule if the contractor chose to utilize only two booster pumps during the construction of the beach/dune fill template.

4.3.1.8 Bidder's Risk in a Volatile Market (Cost)

The affects on construction cost of based on the risk assumed by the contractor were analyzed. These risks are those carried by the contractors that are not analyzed in other risk elements of this model. Those risks analyzed elsewhere include fuel prices, pipeline steel prices, weather delays, dredge acquisition, and additional mobilizations due to hurricanes. Examples of volatile market risk include, but are not limited to, other projects out for bid requiring the contractor's resources, labor force prices, and construction equipment availability. A low risk assumes the contractor is eager for the contractor may be over extending his resources and submits a bid 25% higher than the most likely construction cost.

4.3.1.9 Pipeline Steel Prices (Cost)

The risk associated with the changing price per pound of steel was analyzed to determine it's affect on the cost of the sediment delivery pipeline. Utilizing pricing from prior USACE projects, the assumed current cost per pound for steel was set a \$0.60, the low price at \$0.45, and the high price at \$1.50. These prices were used in the determination of unit cost variances for beach/dune and marsh fill.

4.3.1.10 Dredge Acquisition (Schedule)

The risk associated with the availability of dredges for restoration construction at the time of notice to proceed for the contractor was considered. The delay to the construction schedule, while awaiting a dredge to become available from another project, was determined to be 6 months.

4.3.1.11 Hurricane Demobilization/Re-mobilization (Cost & Schedule)

For the possibility of a hurricane affecting the project during construction, an additional demobilization/re-mobilization of the crew, equipment, and dredge to safe harbor was evaluated.

4.4 RUN CRYSTAL BALL SIMULATIONS AND ANALYZE CONTINGENCIES

Once the risk factors were refined into the final risk resisters for cost and schedule, the final quantitative impacts of risk factors served as the risk model and were analyzed using a combination of professional judgment, empirical data and analytical techniques. The software uses the most likely, low, and high values for various risks. The most likely value is usually the value used in the cost estimate. The low and high values, or best-case and worst-case values, are quantified based off a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the cost estimate. The software uses these values in conjunction with the associated probability distribution assigned to each risk to run its Monte Carlo simulations. Once the software has finished its simulation the total cost of the project with contingency is forecast for specific confidence levels. The resulting 80% confidence level contingency amount is the difference between the 80% cost forecast and the base cost estimate. For schedule contingency analysis, the contingency was calculated as the difference between the 80% level duration forecast and the base schedule duration, shown in months. These new durations suggested by the 80% confidence level were then incorporated into the escalation calculation, i.e., the escalation of the baseline estimate of cost in the Total Project Cost Summary (TPCS) of the initial restoration of the NER Plan.

The forecasts for cost and/or schedule risk can then be analyzed to determine the recommended level of contingency for the project. As stated earlier, the contingencies suggested by the higher confidence levels will account for more risk in the project; conversely, the amounts suggested by the lower confidence levels could possible leave the project without sufficient funding if some events do not go as planned.

5.0 KEY ASSUMPTIONS

Key assumptions are those that are most likely to affect the determinations and/or estimates of risk presented in the risk analysis. The key assumptions are important to help ensure that project leadership and other decision makers understand the steps, logic, limitations, and decisions made in the risk analysis, as well as any resultant limitations on the use of outcomes and results. For this project, the assumptions include:

- 1. Level of Design: The cost comparisons and risk analyses performed and reflected within this report are based upon design scope and estimates that are considered to be well developed and designed.
- 2. Design Scope: The prescribed scope satisfies the requirements of this acquisition.
- 3. Operation and Maintenance: Operation and maintenance activities were not included in the cost estimate or schedules, because none were planned for the selected alternative.
- 4. Contract Acquisition Strategy: Consistent with cost estimate and schedule assumptions, it is assumed that the contract acquisition strategy is firm fixed price.
- 5. Confidence Levels: The Wall Walla Cost Engineering Dx guidance generally focuses on the eighty-percent level of confidence (80%) for cost contingency calculation. For this risk analysis, the eighty-percent level of confidence (80%) was used. It should be noted that the use of 80% as a decision criteria is a moderately risk averse approach, generally resulting in higher cost contingencies. However, the 80% level of confidence also assumes a small degree of risk that the recommended contingencies may be inadequate to completely capture actual project costs.

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS RESULTS

The cost and schedule risk analysis results are provided in the following sections. In addition to contingency calculation results, sensitivity analyses are presented to provide decision makers with an understanding of variability and the key contributors to the cause of this variability.

6.1 COST RISK ANALYSIS CONTINGENCY RESULTS

The construction cost contingencies calculated for the 80% confidence level and rounded to the nearest thousand are shown in Table 2 for Contract No. 1 and Table 3 for Contract No. 2. The construction cost contingencies for the 50% and 100% confidence levels are also provided for illustrative purposes.

The MII cost estimate produced by USACE-MVN Cost Engineering and A/E cost estimators with review by the ATR review lead provide initial construction costs of \$505.2 Million for the initial restoration with a price level of the estimate in the 1st quarter 2010. At the 80% confidence level, the base estimate construction cost contingency was quantified as approximately \$141.7 Million, with a baseline cost of \$646.9 Million.

| Contingency Level | Mii Cost Estimate (\$1,000) | Contingency Percentage | Total Contingency (\$1,000) ¹ | Baseline Cost Estimate (\$1,000) ² |
|--|-----------------------------------|---------------------------|--|---|
| 50% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$260,137 | 17.9% | \$46,650 | \$306,787 |
| 80% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$260,137 | 27.4% | \$71,156 | \$331,293 |
| 100% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$260,137 | 60.3% | \$156,892 | \$417,029 |

 Table 2. Initial Restoration Project Cost Estimate with Contingencies Summary for NER Plan Contract No. 1 (Whiskey, Trinity, and Raccoon Islands)

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from Risk Analysis Forecast

Table 3. Initial Restoration Project Cost Estimate with Contingencies Summary for NER Plan Contract No. 2 (Timbalier Island)

| Contingency Level | Mii Cost Estimate (\$1,000) | Contingency Percentage | Total Contingency (\$1,000) ¹ | Baseline Cost Estimate (\$1,000) ² |
|--|-----------------------------------|---------------------------|--|---|
| 50% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$245,063 | 19.3% | \$47,193 | \$292,256 |
| 80% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$245,063 | 29.4% | \$71,914 | \$316,977 |
| 100% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$245,063 | 66.0% | \$161,831 | \$406,894 |

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from Risk Analysis Forecast

6.2 SCHEDULE RISK ANALYSIS CONTINGENCY RESULTS

The original estimate of PED and construction duration for the initial restoration in Contract No.1 is 64.5 months and Contract No. 2 is 55.8 months. At the 80% confidence level, the projected duration for construction for Contract No. 1 is 93.5 months – an increase of 45%. Similarly, for Contract No. 2 the 80% confidence level of the projected duration of construction is 82.9 months - an increase of 48%. The schedule contingency was calculated by applying the moderate and high level schedule risks identified in the risk register for each option to the durations of critical path and near critical path tasks.

| Risk Analysis Forecast | Forecast Schedule | Total Contingency | Crystal Ball Forecast Schedule |
|--|----------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 50% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Duration | 64.5 months | 35% | 86.9 months |
| 80% Confidence Level- Initial Restoration Project Duration | 64.5 months | 45% | 93.5 months |
| 100% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Duration | 64.5 months | 75% | 113.1 months |

Table 4. Initial Restoration Project Construction Schedule with Contingencies Summary for NER Plan Contract No. 1

Table 5. Initial Restoration Project Construction Schedulewith Contingencies Summary for NER Plan Contract No. 2

| Risk Analysis Forecast | Forecast Schedule | Total Contingency | Crystal Ball Forecast Schedule |
|--|----------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 50% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Duration | 55.8 months | 37% | 76.6 months |
| 80% Confidence Level- Initial Restoration Project Duration | 55.8 months | 48% | 82.9 months |
| 100% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Duration | 55.8 months | 84% | 102.5 months |

6.3 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS RESULTS

Sensitivity analysis ranks the relative impact of each risk/opportunity as a percentage of total cost uncertainty. The Crystal Ball software uses a statistical measure (contribution to variance) that approximates the impact of each risk or opportunity contributing to variability of cost outcomes during the Monte Carlo simulations.

The risks or opportunities that are considered as key drivers are ranked in the order of significance to the total project costs variances. Risks are shown with a positive sign to reflect the potential to increase project cost. Opportunities that have a potential to reduce project cost and are shown with a negative sign. A longer bar in the sensitivity analysis chart indicates the risk has a greater potential impact to total project cost.

Figures 1 and 2 presents the sensitivity analyses for cost growth for those risks identified in the risk register as having a moderate to high level of impact. Similarly, Figures 3 and 4 present the sensitivity analyses for schedule growth risk.

The key cost risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the NER Plan Contract No. 1 (Whiskey, Trinity, and Raccoon Islands) are Internal Risks PED-11 (Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune - Ship Shoal Borrow Area) in additional to External Risks PR-2 (Fuel Prices), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-7 (Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market), and PR-8 (Pipeline Steel Prices) which together contribute 99.3% of the statistical cost variance.

The key cost risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the NER Plan Contract No. 2 (Timbalier Island) are Internal Risks PED-11 (Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune - South Pelto Borrow Area) in additional to External Risks PR-2 (Fuel Prices), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-7 (Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market), and PR-8 (Pipeline Steel Prices) which together contribute 99.3% of the statistical cost variance.

The key schedule risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the NER Plan are External Risks PR-1 (Sponsor's Ability to Fund its Share), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-4 (Delays due to Design Modifications), and PR-10 (Dredge Acquisition), which together contribute 96.4% and 97.4% of the statistical schedule variance for Contracts No. 1 and No 2, respectively.



Figure 1. Cost Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 1 (Whiskey, Trinity, Raccoon Islands)



Figure 2. Cost Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 2 (Timbalier Island)



Figure 3. Schedule Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 1 (Whiskey, Trinity, Raccoon Islands)



Figure 4. Schedule Sensitivity Analysis - NER Plan Contract No. 2 (Timbalier Island)

Recommendations, as detailed within the main report, include the implementation of cost and schedule contingencies, further iterative study of risks throughout the project lifecycle, potential mitigation throughout the Planning, Engineering & Design phase, and proactive monitoring and control of risk identified in this study.

7.0 MAJOR FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS / RECOMMENDATION

This section provides a summary of the significant risk analysis results that were identified in the preceding sections of the report. Risk analysis results are intended to provide project leadership with contingency information for scheduling, budgeting, and project control purposes, as well as to provide tools to support decision making and risk management as projects progress through planning and implementation. Because of the potential for use of risk analysis results for such diverse purposes, this section also reiterates and highlights important steps, logic, key assumptions, limitations, and decisions to help ensure that the risk analysis results are appropriately interpreted.

7.1 MAJOR FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS

The total construction cost and schedule comparison summaries from Crystal Ball are provided in Tables 5 and 6, respectively. Additional major findings and observations of the risk analysis are listed below.

- 1. Base cost contingency recommended for the initial restoration of the NER Plan in Contract No. 1 is approximately \$69.7 Million, for a total Contract No. 1 cost of approximately \$329.8 Million. Base cost contingency recommended for the initial restoration of the NER Plan in Contract No. 2 is approximately \$72.1 Million, for a total Contract No. 2 cost of approximately \$317.1 Million. The combined total cost for the NER Plan initial restoration is \$646.9 Million These figures are derived from the TPCS with contingencies calculated by Crystal Ball (Tables 6 and 7). It should be noted that the contingency cost and base cost calculated by the TPCS are slightly lower than that of Crystal Ball because the cost contingency and escalation are inclusive in the program cost provided by the Adaptive Management Plan development team and therefore not applied in the TPCS.
- 2. Schedule duration contingency recommended for the initial restoration of the NER Plan in Contract No. 1 is 29 months, for a total duration of 93.5 months for this contract. Schedule duration contingency recommended for the initial restoration of the NER Plan in Contract No. 2 is 27.1 months, for a total duration of 82.9 months for this contract. The monthly duration contingencies are

reflective of the 80% confidence level values calculated by Crystal Ball (Table 8 and 9).

- 3. As shown in Figures 1 through 4, the cost risk and schedule risk for initial restoration of the NER Plan are mostly dependent on two risk factors each.
- 4. Operation and maintenance activities were not included in the presented cost estimate or schedules. Therefore, a full lifecycle risk analysis could not be performed. Risk analysis results or conclusions could be significantly different if operation and maintenance activities were included.

| Austoriation of the MEX Fian Contract NO. 1 | | | | |
|---|--------------------------------|--------------------|--|--|
| Forecast: TOTAL PROJECT COST | Percentile | Forecast values | | |
| | 0% | \$214,615,435 | | |
| | 5% | \$263,758,287 | | |
| | 10% | \$272,321,941 | | |
| | 15% | \$278,579,778 | | |
| | 20% | \$283,578,321 | | |
| | 25% | \$287,986,952 | | |
| | 30% | \$292,113,720 | | |
| | 35% | \$295,970,432 | | |
| | 40% | \$299,616,675 | | |
| | 45% | \$303,187,426 | | |
| | 50% | \$306,787,355 | | |
| | 55% | \$310,347,522 | | |
| | 60% | \$314,014,886 | | |
| | 65% | \$317,876,733 | | |
| | 70% | \$322,008,589 | | |
| | 75% | \$326,376,077 | | |
| | 80% | \$331,293,014 | | |
| | 85% | \$337,070,819 | | |
| | 90% | \$344,246,778 | | |
| | 95% | \$354,951,791 | | |
| | 100% | \$417,028,799 | | |
| | Minimum | \$214,615,435 | | |
| | Maximum | \$417,028,799 | | |
| | 80% Confidence Level: | \$331,293,014 | | |
| | Original Project Cost: | \$260,137,358 | | |
| | Total Contingency Based on 80% | 27.4% | | |

Table 6. Baseline Construction Cost Comparison Summary for the InitialRestoration of the NER Plan Contract No. 1

Confidence:

| Forecast: TOTAL PROJECT COST | Percentile | Forecast values |
|---------------------------------------|---|--------------------|
| | 0% | \$190,536,325 |
| | 5% | \$248,620,024 |
| | 10% | \$257,548,301 |
| | 15% | \$263,775,469 |
| | 20% | \$268,883,315 |
| | 25% | \$273,386,225 |
| | 30% | \$277,368,117 |
| | 35% | \$281,291,544 |
| | 40% | \$285,029,931 |
| | 45% | \$288,595,226 |
| | 50% | \$292,255,790 |
| | 55% | \$295,876,247 |
| | 60% | \$299,641,907 |
| | 65% | \$303,483,364 |
| | 70% | \$307,543,774 |
| | 75% | \$312,038,011 |
| | 80% | \$316,976,563 |
| | 85% | \$322,828,115 |
| | 90% | \$330,114,325 |
| | 95% | \$340,616,898 |
| | 100% | \$406,894,479 |
| <u></u> | Minimum | \$190,536,325 |
| | Maximum | \$406,894,479 |
| | 80% Confidence Level: | \$316,976,563 |
| | Original Project Cost: | \$245,062,710 |
| | Total Contingency Based on 80% Confidence: | 29.4% |

Table 7. Baseline Construction Cost Comparison Summary for the InitialRestoration of the NER Plan Contract No. 2

| Forecast: | | |
|-----------|---|----------|
| TOTAL | Doroontilo | Forecast |
| PROJECT | rercentile | values |
| SCHEDULE | | |
| | 0% | 61.21 |
| | 5% | 74.81 |
| | 10% | 77.24 |
| | 15% | 78.99 |
| | 20% | 80.43 |
| | 25% | 81.71 |
| | 30% | 82.87 |
| | 35% | 83.93 |
| | 40% | 84.95 |
| | 45% | 85.96 |
| | 50% | 86.92 |
| | 55% | 87.91 |
| | 60% | 88.92 |
| | 65% | 89.94 |
| | 70% | 91.04 |
| | 75% | 92.21 |
| | 80% | 93.50 |
| | 85% | 94.92 |
| | 90% | 96.72 |
| | 95% | 99.29 |
| | 100% | 113.14 |
| | Minimum | 61.21 |
| | Maximum | 113.14 |
| | 80% Confidence Level: | 93.50 |
| | Original Project Cost: | 64.51 |
| | Total Contingency Based on 80% Confidence: | 44.9% |

Table 8. Baseline Construction Schedule Comparison Summary for the InitialRestoration of the NER Plan Contract No. 1

| Forecast: TOTAL PROJECT SCHEDULE | Percentile | Forecast values |
|---|---|--------------------|
| | 0% | 52.54 |
| | 5% | 64.88 |
| | 10% | 67.19 |
| | 15% | 68.85 |
| | 20% | 70.23 |
| | 25% | 71.44 |
| | 30% | 72.54 |
| | 35% | 73.62 |
| | 40% | 74.61 |
| | 45% | 75.60 |
| | 50% | 76.58 |
| | 55% | 77.55 |
| | 60% | 78.52 |
| | 65% | 79.54 |
| | 70% | 80.57 |
| | 75% | 81.66 |
| | 80% | 82.85 |
| | 85% | 84.26 |
| | 90% | 85.92 |
| | 95% | 88.28 |
| | 100% | 102.53 |
| | Minimum | 52.54 |
| | Maximum | 102.53 |
| | 80% Confidence Level: | 82.85 |
| | Original Project Cost: | 55.82 |
| | Total Contingency Based on 80% Confidence: | 48.4% |

Table 9. Baseline Construction Schedule Comparison Summary for the InitialRestoration of the NER Plan Contract No. 2

Through utilization of the TPCS, the base cost estimate for the initial restoration from the MII escalated to the project year of the 1st quarter 2012 equals approximately \$517.6 Million. Adding the cost and schedule influence contingencies provides a project cost of approximately \$661.3 Million. A breakdown of the program year cost by work feature is presented in Table 10.

| | LCA TBBSR NER Plan Total Project Costs | Program Year Cost ² | Contingency ¹ | Program Year Total Cost ² |
|----|---|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$545,489 | \$163,647 | \$709,136 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 10 | Breakwaters & Seawalls | \$1,833,379 | \$500,239 | \$2,332,618 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$462,893,681 | \$129,859,981 | \$592,753,662 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$23,234,414 | \$6,594,157 | \$29,828,571 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$23,236,463 | \$6,594,739 | \$29,831,202 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$517,564,626 | \$143,712,763 | \$661,276,389 |

Table 10. NER Plan Cost Summary - Program Year (2012)Initial Restoration Project Cost

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

Expanding on the program year cost estimate, escalation to midpoint of work features can be calculated. The results provide a fully funded project cost of approximately \$689.0 Million. A breakdown of the fully funded project cast is presented in Table 11.

| | LCA TBBSR NER Plan Total Project Costs | Program Year Cost ² | All Contingencie s & Escalations ¹ | Fully Funded Total ² |
|----|---|-----------------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$545,489 | \$169,355 | \$714,844 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 10 | Breakwaters & Seawalls | \$1,833,379 | \$661,017 | \$2,494,396 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$462,893,681 | \$155,985,226 | \$618,878,907 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$23,234,414 | \$6,845,778 | \$30,080,192 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$23,236,463 | \$7,804,553 | \$31,041,016 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$517,564,626 | \$171,465,929 | \$689,030,555 |

 Table 11. NER Plan Cost Summary - Fully Funded Initial Restoration Project Cost

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

7.2 **Recommendations**

Risk Management is an all-encompassing, iterative, and life-cycle process of project management. The Project Management Institute's (PMI) A Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK® Guide), 4th edition, states that "project risk management includes the processes concerned with conducting risk management planning, identification, analysis, responses, and monitoring and control on a project." Risk identification and analysis are processes within the knowledge area of risk management. Its outputs pertinent to this effort include the risk register, risk quantification (risk analysis model), contingency report, and the sensitivity analysis.

The intended use of these outputs is implementation by the project leadership with respect to risk responses (such as mitigation) and risk monitoring and control. In short, the effectiveness of the project risk management effort requires that the proactive management of risks not conclude with the study completed in this report.

This section provides a list of recommendations for continued management of the risks identified and analyzed in this study. (Note: this list is not all-inclusive)

- 1. Cost Estimate Quality: The cost estimate was developed for the restoration of Whiskey Island based on feasibility level surveys and designs. Risks associated with the information utilized in the designs have been analyzed within this risk assessment. It is recommended that the project leadership, restoration design team, and project cost estimators work closely in re-evaluating the project cost elements and associated cost risks during the Planning, Engineering, & Design phase of the project as more detailed design information becomes available.
- 2. Schedule Quality: As with the project costs, the schedule was developed based on feasibility level information; the assumption of initiation date of Planning, Engineering, & Design; and the appropriation construction funding date anticipated by the WRDA legislation. It is recommended that project leadership use the results of the schedule risk analysis in re-evaluating the schedule risk as the project progresses forward and more definitive timeline of events becomes available.
- 3. Risk Management: The outputs created during the risk analysis effort are recommended to be used as tools in future risk management processes. The risk register should be updated at each major project milestone. The results of the sensitivity analysis may also be used for response planning strategy and

development. These tools should be used in conjunction with regular risk review meetings. As an example, recommended uses of the risk register include:

- Documenting risk mitigation strategies being pursued in response to the identified risks and their assessment in terms of probability and impact.
- Providing project sponsors, stakeholders, leadership, and management with a documented framework from which risk status can be reported in the context of project controls.
- Communicating risk management issues.
- Providing a mechanism for eliciting risk analysis feedback and project control input.
- Identifying risk transfer, elimination or mitigation actions required for implementation of risk management plans.
- 4. Risk Analysis Updates: Project leadership should review risk items identified in the original risk register and add others, as required, throughout the project life-cycle. Risks should be reviewed for status and reevaluation (using qualitative measure, at a minimum) and placed on risk management watch lists if any risk's likelihood or impact significantly increases. Project leadership should also be mindful of the potential for secondary (new risks created specifically by the response to an original risk) and residual risks (risks that remain and have unintended impact following response).

8.0 REFERENCES

University of New Orleans and United States Geological Survey (UNO and USGS). 2009. Louisiana Barrier Island Comprehensive Monitoring Program (BICM) Volume 3: Bathymetry and Historical Seafloor Change 1869-2007. Part 1: South-Central Louisiana and Northern Chandeleur Islands, Bathymetry Methods and Uncertainty Analysis. Final Report. January 2009.

ATTACHMENT A

Detailed Risk Registers

LCA TBBSR - NER Plan PDT Preliminary Risk Register

| | | 4 | | | | Risk L | evel | | | | | | | |
|--------------|---|---|---|--------------------------|-------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|--|--|----------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|---|-------|
| | | 80. IBU | Very Likely | Ľ | No No | loderate | High | Hig | _ | High | | | | |
| | | 1 | Likely | Ľ | M WO | loderate | High | Higi | - | High | | | | |
| | | | Unlikel | Ľ | wo | Low | Moderate | Moder | ate | High | | | | |
| | | Lib | Very Unlikely | ت ر | MO | Low | Low | Lov | `````````````````````````````````````` | - High | | | | |
| | | 1 | • | Negl | igible I | Marginal | Significant | Critic | , le | Crisis | | | | |
| | | | | • | npact or 6 | Consequei | ice of Oc | currence | | | | | | |
| | | | _ | - | | | \setminus | - | - | | | | | |
| | | | _ | / Projec | t Cost | | | Project So | chedule | | | | | |
| Risk No. | Risk/Opportunity Event | Discussion and Concerns | / Likelihood* | Impact* | // Risk Level* | Rough Order Impact (\$) | Likelihood* | Impact* | Risk Level* | Rough Order Impact (mo) | Variance Distribution | Correlation to Other(s) | Notes | |
| Contrac | :t Risks (Internal Risk Items are those tha | it are generated, caused, or controlled within the PDT's | sphere of influenc | e.) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Project | and Program Management | | | | - | | 1 - 14 - 14 | | - | | | | | _ |
| PPM-1 | Available and Timely Funding | Available funding from the Federal government. | Very Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | /ery Unlikely | Significant | Low | | | | | |
| PPM-2 | Changes in priority | Puling tunding for this project for other immediate needs. Competition resources. | n far Very Unlikely | Marginal | Low | - | /ery Unlikely | Critical | Low | | | | Whiskey BA 3 for marsh creation is not currently considered in any other island restorations. The TSP would utilize Ship Shoat material that was prevously considered for TE-47 Whiskey West Flank project of which the TSP would replace. | |
| PPM-3 | Estimating/Scheduling Errors | Chance for oversights, errors, etc., as the schedule and scope of wor driving the estimate and schedule quality. | k ar Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | | | - |
| PPM-5 | Functional Resources Overloaded/Shift of Staff Priorities | Lack of internal human resources to execute project due to heavy workload, overloaded staff, and shifting priorities. | y Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | | | |
| PPM-8 | Contract Acquisition Risks | Decreasing competition | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | | | It is likely that it will be a FFP large business, based on historical, and small business does no have the capibility. | |
| Feature | Code 01 - Real Estate | | _ | | | | | | | | | | | _ |
| ו כמומ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Feature | Code 06 - Fish & Wildlife (Adaptiv | ve Management Plan & Monitoring) | | | | | | | | | | | | _ |
| FW-1 | Adaptive Management Plan & Monitoring (AMP) shortened duration | AMP may not require the full 10 years budgeted to determine ecolog success (opportunity) | gica Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | | | A reduction in the AMP to 7 years equates to a reduction in total project cost of 2%. However due to the significance of the aquired data during this period it is unlikely that the program would be shortened. | = 0 |
| FW-2 | Survey cost escalation | Cost of field survey crews may be greater or less than budgeted. If gr than budgeted, survey coverage would have to be reduced. If less t budgeted, survey coverage could be expanded. | eate han Likely | Negligible | Low | | Likely | Negligible | Low | | | | An increase of annual survey cost of 10% equate to 0.5% of total project cost. | a |
| Feature | Code 17 - Beach Replenishment | (Beach and Marsh Construction) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Envil | onmental & Cultural | | - | | | | | | | | | | | _ |
| BR-1 | MMS Survey Issues (30-m spacing) | Borrow areas in Federal Waters are under the jurisdiction of the Mi which may end/ore new survey spacing requirements, infrastructur Offsets etc. resulting in less available material in increased data acqu and permitting casaling in the may available material and permitting casaling in the may avera already conducted and permitting casa unveys might reveal additional CRs. | vis re iisitik J, th Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | | | |
| BR-2 | Cultural Resources Island Specific | Raccoon, Whiskey, and Timbalier Island include high, medium, med probability area (respectively) and will require remote sensing. | ium Likely | Negligible | Low | | Likely | Negligible | Low | | | | A cultural resource survey is planned and will be conducted shortly for Whiskey Island (TSP). | 0 |
| BR-4 | Regulatory and Environmental Risks | Ship Shoal dredging impacts, reviewing agency requires higher-ter- review than assumed, permits take broger than expected, pressure compress the study and permitting activities | vel sto Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | | | | |
| Cons | truction | | | | | | | | | | | | | - |
| BR-8 BR-9 | Permitted Activities Pipeline from Borrow Area | Activities such as pipeline construction, canal maintenance and construction on marthe project area mar and and field project des access, or exacerbate current land loss rates. Navigation issues, oyster rissues. | ign, Unlikely Unlikely | Negligible Negligible | Low | | Unlikely Unlikely | Negligible Negligible | Low | | | | There are no oil and gas infrastructure or pipeline within the Whiskey Island fill templates. | |
| BR-10 | General Dredge Cost Estimating Assumptions | Distance between island and borrow areas, weather days, dredg mob/demob costs, plant costs | e Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | | | |
| 00 67 | Risk of Restoration Activates Damaging | Rest associated with oil and gas facilities including pipelines bein damaged during project activities. Spills associated vich damages | to to titoolic | Marcinal | | | | and a second | - | | | | Review of USGS and MMS pipeline databases revealed that there are no known pipelines within the bornow rank of ill search and one pipelines the bornow rank of ill search and one pipelin structure to the orth of the stand and one pipelin structure to this structure from offshore through | 5 4 6 |
| RR-14 | Contractor and other Construction- | Inefficient contractor, conflicts with other contracts, site access, adeq stacing areas, special equipment availability | juate Unlikelv | Nealiaible | Low | | Unlikelv | Negligible | Low | T | | | man - Freemann | |

| Meter10.1< | Featu. | re Code 30 - Planning, Engineering | l & Design | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------|---|---|-----------------|------------------|----------|--------------|-------------|----------|---|-------|---|
| UEImage: Construction of the construction | Des | sign | | | | | | | | | | |
| 111 | PED- | 1 Marsh Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey covera / quality and or storms prior to or during construction. | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | | PR-12 | |
| (1)(1 | PED- | 2 Beach Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey covera / quality and or stoms prior to or during construction. | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | | PR-12 | |
| Image: constraint of the constra | PED | 3 Model Selection | If models applied do not take into account or were not developed to the site-specific conditions of the Terrebonne Basin Barner Shoreline, output may result in under predicting or over predicting effectiveness of project. | Very Unlikely | Marginal | Low | Very Unlikel | / Marginal | Low | | PED-4 | |
| Image: consistent of a consist | PED⊸ | 4 Model Input Error | If model inputs including bathymetry, incography, erosion, land change historic wave data, sediment grain size aren't representative of current conditions, modeling output could result in flawed island templates. | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | Unlikely | Marginal | гом | | PED-3 | |
| Image: Inclusion of the control of the cont | Gec | otechnical & Survey | | | | | | | | | | |
| LetControlCo | PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune Borrow 1 Area - South Pelto Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to me- required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | | | |
| Conclusion< | PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area 2 South Pelto Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to me required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | | | |
| Understand (understanding) (understanding) (understanding)Understanding (understanding) (understanding)Understanding (understanding) (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)UnderstandingUnderstanding (understanding)Understanding (understanding)UnderstandingUnderstan | PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area 13 Whiskey 3A Borrow Area Upper | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to me required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | Unlikely | Negligible | row | | | |
| (j)(j | PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area 14 Whiskey 3A Borrow Area Lower | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may offfer from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to me required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | | | |
| 40400000040000004000000400000040000004000000400000040000004000000400000040000004000000040000004000000040000000400000004000000000004000000000000000000000000000000000000 | PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area 15 New Cut Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to me required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | | | |
| Use the formation of th | PED-1 | 6 Geophysical Data: All Borrow Areas | Borrow area volume calculations are based on existing surveys. Poor data quality could result in volume shortages. | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | Unlikely | Marginal | гом | | | |
| Cut Cut <td>PED-1</td> <td>8 Petroleum Infrastructure</td> <td>Infrastructure could be installed within the borrow areas before construction reducing the available material volumes</td> <td>Unlikely</td> <td>Marginal</td> <td>Low</td> <td>Unlikely</td> <td>Marginal</td> <td>Low</td> <td></td> <td>BR-8</td> <td></td> | PED-1 | 8 Petroleum Infrastructure | Infrastructure could be installed within the borrow areas before construction reducing the available material volumes | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | BR-8 | |
| Off Off Indext Index Index Index | Featu. | re Code 31 - Construction Manage | ment | | | | | | | | | |
| PR-1 Spendial states demander alter al properties of management of and man | CM- | | | | | | | | | ╈ | _ | |
| PR-1Forand find find figureForand find field figureForand field field field figureEndoting field | Progr | ammatic Risks (External Risk Items are t | those that are generated, caused, or controlled exclusively c | outside the PDT | 's sphere of inf | luence.) | | | - | - | - | |
| PR2 Inclusion in luc cast cond have a inject on the project cast. Likely Singlibite Likely Negligibite Likely | PR-1 | Sponsor's Ability to Fund Its Share | Procuring funds from the non-federal sponser has been known to take long periods of time in the past. | Likely | Negligible | Low | Likely | Significant | High | | | |
| R-3Bose the function of the exact of the constraint of the | PR-2 | 2 Fuel Prices | Fluctuations in fuel costs could have an impact on the project cost. | Likely | Significant | High | Likely | Negligible | Low | | | |
| RR4 Delays due to Design Modifications Moderate Moderat Moderate Mod | PR-3 | Severe Weather Downtime | Risks associated with dredging operations in open Guif especially during winter season and during a severe tropical storm season. Effects on dredge operational hours/day. | Likely | Significant | High | Likely | Significant | High | | | |
| Res.Image: Includent or log point on solution constantsRes. in conduction functioneLikelySignificantLikelySignificantLikelySignificantImage: Image: I | PR-4 | t Delays due to Design Modifications | Modifications to design could be required at time of construction. | Likely | Negligible | Low | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | | | |
| PR-7Bidder Sie in volation Below and marked PR-10LikelySignificantLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikelyLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikelyLikelyLikelyLikelyNegligibleLowLikely <t< td=""><td>PR-5</td><td>5 Long Pipeline to Island from South Pelto</td><td>Risk in Productivity/efficiency with long pipeline and required number boosters.</td><td>Likely</td><td>Significant</td><td>High</td><td>Likely</td><td>Significant</td><td>High</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | PR-5 | 5 Long Pipeline to Island from South Pelto | Risk in Productivity/efficiency with long pipeline and required number boosters. | Likely | Significant | High | Likely | Significant | High | | | |
| PR.8DescriptionIs the sesociated with charging steel pricesIs the sesociated with charging steel pricesLikelyDegriptionLikelyNegliptionLikelyNegliptionLikelyNegliptionLikelyNegliptionLikelyNegliptionPR.10Deogree AcquisitionDeogree AcquisitionDeogree AcquisitionUnlikelyNonoer at Narry on the warable at at times.UnlikelyNonoer at Narry on the moder at | PR-7 | Pidder's Risk in Volatile Market | Nisk associated with bidders responding to volatile markets with higher b prices. | Likely | Significant | High | Likely | Negligible | Low | | | |
| PR-10 Dradge Acquisition Dradge Acquisition Dradge Acquisition Unlikely Significant Moderate | PR-6 | 3 Pipeline Steel Prices | Risks associated with changing steel prices increasing the cost of pipe. | Likely | Significant | High | Likely | Negligible | Low | | | |
| PR-14 Cli and Cas facilities damage (storms, accidental releases) resulting in damage (storms, accidental releases, orgoing activities) Unitedy Unitedy National Review of USCS and MKS pipelin reveased storms are or if its convour- storms, are or if its convour- storms, accidental releases, orgoing activities) National Review of USCS and MKS pipelin reveased storms, are or if its convour- storms, are or or if its convour- storms, are or if its convour- a | PR-1 | 0 Dredge Acquisition | Dredges for the project may not be available at all times. | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | | | |
| PR-13 Shore equipment mechanical issues Dozer etc. may experience mediantialisues causing downtime an reducing producting issues Unlikely Negligible Low PR-14 Hurricane Demob/Re-mob Extended uning construction due to a hurriance event Likely Marginal Likely Marginal | PR-1 | Oll and Gas facilities damage (storms, ocidental releases) resulting in damage to barrier resources | Adverse Impacts to existing resources (baseline conditions) resulting fro accidential releases, ongoing activities. | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | Review of USCS and MMS pipeline databases revealed nat there are no revown pipeline with the borrow are are fill sites. There is non exites attrature to the north of the sland and one opeil leading to his attrature from offshore through leading to his attrature from through |
| PR-14 Hurricane Demob/Re-mob Demoby Re-mob Demoty and construction equipment may need to be moved off of an Likely Marginal Moderate Likely Marginal Moderate Demob/Re-mob | PR-1. | 3 Shore equipment mechanical issues | Dozers etc. may experience mechanical issues causing downtime an reducing productivity. | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | | |
| | PR-1- | 4 Hurricane Demob/Re-mob | Dredge and Construction equipment may need to be moved off of an island during construction due to a hurricane event | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | | | |

Leelihood, Impact, and Risk Level to be verified through marker research and analysis (conducted by cost enginee).
 Risk/Opportunity identified with relerence to the Risk Identification Checklist and through deliberation and study of the PDT.
 Risk/Opportunity identified with relerence to the Risk Identification Checklist and through deliberation and study of the PDT.
 Livelihoodis a measure of the probability of the event and study individual domain information performant is the same for both Cost and Schedule.
 Livelihoodis a measure of the event's effect on project Cast and Schedule. For example, an item with cleanty defined parameters and a solid most likely scenario would probably follow a Cast and schedule.
 Risk Level is the result is the many long control mice in the rest of the event is the same for the revent selfact on project Schedule.
 Risk Level is the result of the phonoid and intervention and struct and.
 Risk Level is the event selfact on project objectives with relation to scope, cost, and/or schedule Negligible. Marginal Significant Critical, or Crisis. Impacts on Project Cost may not be the asame for impacts to whore the revent selfact on project schedule.
 Risk Level is the ensity responsible as the Subject Matter Expert (SME) on the PDT for the identified risk or opportunity.
 Control releves to the revent start and a solid most likely or schedule. For example, an item with cleanty defined parameters and a solid most likely scenario would probably follow a contance of the revent selfact on project cast project cost project cos

LCA TBBSR - NER Plan Contract #1 (Whiskey Is., Trinity Is., Raccoon Is.) Cost Risk Analysis Simulation

| | | | | | | | Cryst | | |
|----------|----------------|--------|----------|----------------------|------------|-----------|-------|-----------------|--------------------|
| | | | | | | | | , wo | |
| | | | | | ~ | | | Distribution | |
| | High | High | High | High | Crisis | | | st Risk evel | |
| | High | High | Moderate | MOT | Critical | rrence | | Cos | enhoro of infl |
| _• | High | High | oderate | Low | nificant | of Occui | / | d | |
| isk Leve | ate | ate | W | | al Siç | aguence | / | Likelihoo | id within |
| R | Modera | Modera | Low | Low | Margin | or Conse | / | | or contro |
| | Low | Low | Low | Low | Negligible | Impact of | | Sellss | erated called |
| | Very Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Very Unlikely | | / | | <u>.</u> | three that are dep |
| e | ILLENC | iooO i | o poo | dil s yi. | 1 | | | ŧ | theme are |

| | | // | | / | _ | | | Crystal Ball Simulation | |
|----------|--|--|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|----------------|---------------|-------------------------|--------------|
| Rick No. | Risk Event | series | l ikalihood | Imnact | Cost Risk Level | Distribution | | - Nedi V | Hich |
| Interna | Ricks (Internal Rick Items are | e those that are denerated icalised or cont | trolled within th | e PDT's snhere | of influence) | | LOW | LINGI | 116111 |
| PED-1 | Marsh Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to success due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to success d | Likelv | Marcinal | Moderate | Triangular | -\$5,705,251 | 0\$ | \$5,637,530 |
| PED-2 | Beach Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior due to survey coverage / quality. | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Triangular | -\$13,506,679 | 0\$ | \$16,055,143 |
| PED-11 | Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune Borrow Area - Ship Shoal Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration arean writtler from data revewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fit volumes could offer. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$3,649,948 | \$0 | \$21,040,482 |
| PED-12 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Ship Shoal Borrow Area | Geolechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration arean wighter from data reviewed dung feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fit volumes could offer. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$535,093 | \$0 | \$3,139,480 |
| PED-13 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Whiskey 3A Borrow Area Upper | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ them data revewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to meet equired fit volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$3,711,136 | \$0 | \$7,282,898 |
| PED-14 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Raccoon Island Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ them data revewed during testibility stage. Diredge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | 623,839 | \$0 | \$739,839 |
| Externa | al Risks (External Risk Items | are those that are generated, caused, or co | introlled exclusi | ively outside the | e PDT's sphere | of influence.) | | | |
| PR-2 | Fuel Prices | Fluctuations in fuel costs could have an impact on the project cost. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$26,016,068 | \$0 | \$58,328,428 |
| PR-3 | Severe Weather Downtime | Risks associated with dredging operations in open Guff especially during winter season and during a severe tropical storm season. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$18,309,377 | 0\$ | \$29,242,651 |
| PR-5 | Long Pipeline to Island from Ship Shoal | Risk in Productivity/efficiency with long pipeline and required number boosters. | Likely | Significant | High | Uniform | 0\$ | \$0 | \$19,882,759 |
| PR-7 | Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market | Risk associated with bidders responding to volatile markets with higher bid prices. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$22,934,818 | \$0 | \$57,337,045 |
| PR-8 | Pipeline Steel Prices | Risks associated with changing steel prices increasing the cost of pipe. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$4,397,173 | 0\$ | \$13,813,006 |
| PR-14 | Hurricane Demob/Re-mob | Dredge and Construction equipment may need to be moved off of an island during construction due to a hurricane event | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Uniform | 0\$ | 0\$ | \$1,539,351 |
| | All Other Project Cost (Placeholder) | Placeholder to return to forcast value | N/A | N/A | N/A | | | \$260,222,247 | |
| | | | | | | | | \$260,222,247 | |

LCA TBBSR - NER Plan Contract #2 (Timbalier Island) Cost Risk Analysis Simulation

| | | | | | | L |
|--------|----------------|----------|----------|------------------|-----------------------------|---|
| | | | | | | |
| | High | High | High | High | Crisis | |
| | High | High | Moderate | Tow | Critical rrence | |
| evel | High | High | Moderate | Low | Significant nce of Occur | |
| Risk L | Moderate | Moderate | Low | Low | Marginal or Conseque | |
| | Low | Low | Low | Low | Negligible | / |
| | Very Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Very Unlikely | | |
| e | ili.euce | locci | o poo | uii9yi. | • | |

| | | | | / | | | | Crystal Ball Simulation | |
|--------|--|---|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|----------------|---------------|-------------------------|--------------|
| Risk N | o. Risk Event | Issues | Likelihood | Impact | Cost Risk Level | Distribution | Low | Likely | High |
| Intern | al Risks (Internal Risk Items ar | e those that are generated, caused, or cont | trolled within th | e PDT's sphere | e of influence.) | | | | |
| PED-1 | Marsh Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior to construction. | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Triangular | -\$549,894 | \$0 | \$621,297 |
| PED-2 | Beach Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior to construction. | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Triangular | -\$761,717 | 0\$ | \$761,717 |
| PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune - South Pelto 1 Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas any differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dradge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$2,815,404 | 0\$ | \$15,599,928 |
| PED-1: | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - South Pelto 2 Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas any differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$763,475 | \$0 | \$4,484,990 |
| PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Whiskey 3A 4 Borrow Area Lower | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas any differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dradge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$5,284,472 | \$0 | \$5,381,994 |
| PED-1 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - New Cut Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and resolution areas any differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dradge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -\$1,158,579 | 0\$ | \$1,158,579 |
| Extern | al Risks (External Risk Items | are those that are generated, caused, or cou | introlled exclus | ively outside the | e PDT's sphere | of influence.) | | | |
| PR-2 | Fuel Prices | Fluctuations in fuel costs could have an impact on the project cost. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$25,815,596 | \$0 | \$56,827,221 |
| PR-3 | Severe Weather Downtime | Risks associated with dredging operations in open Gulf especially during winter season and during a severe tropical storm season. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$21,105,860 | \$0 | \$29,690,244 |
| PR-5 | Long Pipeline to Island from South Pelto | Risk in Productivity/efficiency with long pipeline and required number boosters. | Likely | Significant | High | Uniform | \$0 | \$0 | \$27,416,784 |
| PR-7 | Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market | Risk associated with bidders responding to volatile markets with higher bid prices. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$22,243,673 | \$0 | \$55,609,182 |
| PR-8 | Pipeline Steel Prices | Risks associated with changing steel prices increasing the cost of pipe. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -\$5,523,994 | \$0 | \$17,651,136 |
| PR-14 | . Hurricane Demob/Re-mob | Dredge and Construction equipment may need to be moved off of an island during construction due to a hurricane event | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Uniform | \$0 | \$0 | \$875,272 |
| | All Other Project Cost (Placeholder) | Placeholder to return to forcast value | N/A | N/A | N/A | | | \$245,062,710 | |
| | | | | | | | | \$245.062.710 | |

LCA TBBSR - NER Plan Contract #1 (Whiskey Is., Trinity Is., Raccoon Is.) Schedule Risk Analysis Simulation

High

High

High

Moderate

Low

Very Likely

aonam

Risk Level

| | ii Occi | Likely | Low Mo | derate | High | High | High | | | | |
|----------|--|--|---|------------------------|---------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------|-------|-------------------------|-------|
| | 0 poo | Unlikely | Low | -ow | Noderate | Moderat | e High | | | | |
| | Hiley L | Very Unlikely | гом | -ow | Low | MOT | High | | | | |
| | 1• | | Negligible Ma | ırginal S | significant | Critical | Crisis | 1 | | | |
| | | / | Impact or Co | ouseduenc | ce of Occu | rrence | | | | | |
| | | | / | / | | | / | | | Crystal Ball Simulation | |
| Risk No. | Risk Event | <u>s</u> | ssues | Likeliho | iul poc | oact (| Cost Risk Level | Distribution | Low | Likelv | Hiah |
| nternal | Risks (Internal Risk Items ar | e those that are ger | nerated, caused, or c | ontrolled with | nin the PDT's | s sphere of | influence.) | | | | |
| PED-1 | Marsh Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes requidue to survey coverage to co | ired under or over estimat a / quality and or storms p instruction. | ed rior Likel | v Mar | ginal | Moderate | Triangular | -1.23 | 0.00 | 1.21 |
| PED-2 | Beach Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes requ due to survey coverage to co | ired under or over estimat e / quality and or storms p instruction. | ed rior Likel | y Mar | ginal | Moderate | Triangular | -1.50 | 0.00 | 2.29 |
| PED-11 | Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune Borrow Area - Ship Shoal Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditio restoration areas ma during feasibility stag required fill vo | ons in the borrow areas an y differ from data reviewer e. Dredge volumes to mer olumes could differ. | d d et Unlike | ły Sign | ificant | Moderate | Triangular | -0.61 | 0.00 | 3.45 |
| PED-12 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Ship Shoal Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditio restoration areas ma during feasibility stag required fill vo | ons in the borrow areas an y differ from data reviewer e. Dredge volumes to mer olumes could differ. | d d et Unlike | ły Sign | ificant | Moderate | Triangular | -0.09 | 0.00 | 0.54 |
| PED-13 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Whiskey 3A Borrow Area Upper | Geotechnical conditio restoration areas ma during feasibility stag required fill vo | ns in the borrow areas an y differ from data reviewer e. Dredge volumes to mee olumes could differ. | d a et Unlike | ły Sign | ificant | Moderate | Triangular | -0.89 | 0.00 | 1.75 |
| PED-14 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area - Raccoon Island Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditio restoration areas ma during feasibility stag required fill vo | ns in the borrow areas an y differ from data reviewee e. Dredge volumes to mee olumes could differ. | d Dulike | iy Sign | ificant | Moderate | Triangular | -0.18 | 0.00 | 0.18 |
| External | Risks (External Risk Items | are those that are ge | enerated, caused, or | controlled e: | xclusively ou | Itside the PI | DT's sphere o | f influence.) | | | |
| PR-1 | Sponsor's Ability to Fund Its Share | Procuring funds from t been known to take lon | the non-federal sponser h ig periods of time in the p | as ast. Likel | v Sign | ificant | High | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 18.00 |
| PR-3 | Severe Weather Downtime | Risks associated with Guff especially during severe tropi | dredging operations in op winter season and during cal storm season. | a Likel | y Sign | ificant | High | Triangular | -7.36 | 0.00 | 12.29 |
| PR-4 | Delays due to Design Modifications | Modifications to design con | n could be required at time struction. | of Likely | y Mar | ginal | Moderate | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 6.00 |
| PR-5 | Long Pipeline to Island from Ship Shoal | Risk in Productivity/effi required n | iciency with long pipeline a umber boosters. | and Likely | y Sign | ificant | High | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 6.84 |
| PR-10 | Dredge Acquisition | Dredges for the projec | st may not be available at t times. | all Unlike | ły Sign | ificant | Moderate | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 6.00 |
| PR-14 | Hurricane Demob/Re-mob | Dredge and Construct be moved off of an isl to a hu | tion equipment may need and during construction du rricane event | to Je Likel | v Mar | ginal | Moderate | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 1.48 |

64.51

N/A

A/A

N/A

Placeholder to return to forcast value

All Other Project Cost (Placeholder)

LCA TBBSR - NER Plan Contract #2 (Timbalier Island) Schedule Risk Analysis Simulation

Risk Level

| | | | | | | | | чин | 5 | 1.43 | 1.56 | 2.35 | 0.68 | 0.82 | 0.23 | | 18.00 | 10.21 | 6.00 | 6.34 | 6.00 | 1.48 | | |
|---|----------------|----------|-----------|---------------------|--------------|---------------|--------------------------------|--------------------|------------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|---|------------------------------|--|---|---|---|---------------------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|-------|
| | | | | | | | Crystal Ball Simulation | l ikolu | Lincip | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 55.82 | 55.82 |
| | | | | | | | | - Court | | -1.43 | -1.56 | -0.41 | -0.12 | -0.81 | -0.23 | | 0.00 | -7.23 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | | |
| | | | | | | | | Distribution | | Triangular | Triangular | Triangular | Triangular | Triangular | Triangular | f influence.) | Uniform | Triangular | Uniform | Uniform | Uniform | Uniform | | |
| | High | High | ate High | High | al Crisis | | | Cost Risk Level | of influence.) | Moderate | Moderate | Moderate | Moderate | Moderate | Moderate | PDT's sphere o | High | High | Moderate | High | Moderate | Moderate | N/A | |
| | High | High | ate Moder | v Low | ant Critic | Occurrence | | Impact | PDT's sphere | Marginal | Marginal | Significant | Significant | Significant | Significant | ely outside the | Significant | Significant | Marginal | Significant | Significant | Marginal | N/A | |
| | ate Hig | ate Hig | / Mode | , Lov | nal Signifi | equence of | | l ikelihood | olled within the | Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Unlikely | Unlikely | Unlikely | ntrolled exclusiv | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Likely | N/A | |
| | ow Moder | ow Moder | ow Lov | ow Lov | igible Margi | mpact or Cons | | | , caused, or conti | er or over estimated / and or storms prior n. | er or over estimated y and or storms prior n. | borrow areas and om data reviewed e volumes to meet ould differ. | borrow areas and om data reviewed e volumes to meet ould differ. | borrow areas and om data reviewed e volumes to meet ould differ. | borrow areas and om data reviewed e volumes to meet ould differ. | ed, caused, or cor | ederal sponser has s of time in the past. | j operations in open eason and during a season. | e required at time of | ith long pipeline and bosters. | ot be available at all | oment may need to ng construction due vent | forcast value | |
| | Very Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Very Unlikely Lo | Negl | 7 | | Series | those that are generated | Material volumes required unded due to survey coverage / quality to constructio | Material volumes required unde due to survey coverage / quality to constructio | Geotechnical conditions in the restoration areas may differ the restoration areas may differ the during feasibility stage. Dredg required fill volumes control and the restoration area in the restoration of the restoration area in the restoration of the restora | Geotechnical conditions in the restoration areas may differ the restoration areas may differ the during feasibility stage. Dredg required fill volumes control and the required fill volumes control and the restored fill vol | Geotechnical conditions in the restoration areas may differ the restoration areas may differ the during feasibility stage. Dredg required fill volumes concerned to the stage of the stage | Geotechnical conditions in the restoration areas may differ fr during feasibility stage. Dredg uning feasibility stage. Oredgred fill volumes c | e those that are generate | Procuring funds from the non-f | Risks associated with dredging Gulf especially during winter si severe tropical storm | Modifications to design could b construction | Risk in Productivity/efficiency w required number bo | Dredges for the project may no times. | Dredge and Construction equi be moved off of an island duri to a hurricane e | Placeholder to return to | |
| e | nenc | l Occi | o poc | odiləyi. | ı• | | | Rick Event | sks (Internal Risk Items are | arsh Fill Design Quantities | each Fill Design Quantities | eotechnical Issues sach/Dune - South Pelto prrow Area | eotechnical Issues Marsh orrow Area - South Pelto orrow Area | eotechnical Issues Marsh orrow Area - Whiskey 3A orrow Area Lower | eotechnical Issues Marsh prrow Area - New Cut prrow Area | isks (External Risk Items ar | oonsor's Ability to Fund Its nare | evere Weather Downtime | elays due to Design odifications | ong Pipeline to Island from outh Pelto | redge Acquisition | urricane Demob/Re-mob | I Other Project Cost laceholder) | |
| | | | | | | | | Rick No | Internal Ri | PED-1 | PED-2 Be | G(B(PED-11 BC | Gu Bc PED-12 Bc | G G PED-14 BC | G Bc PED-15 Bc | External R | PR-1 St | PR-3 Se | PR-4 M | PR-5 Sc | PR-10 Dr | PR-14 Hı | AI. (P | |



Louisiana Coastal Authority Terrebonne Basin Barrier Shoreline Restoration

Integrated Feasibility Study and Environmental Impact Statement

Project Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis Report First Component of Construction

Prepared for:

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, New Orleans District

Prepared by:

SJB Group, LLC. & Coastal Engineering Consultants, Inc. Under contract from Louisiana Office of Coastal Protection and Restoration

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTI | VE SUMMARY ES-1 |
|---------------------------------|---|
| 1.0 PURPO | DSE1 |
| 2.0 BACK | GROUND1 |
| 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 | PARTICIPATING AGENCIES1STUDY AUTHORIZATION1STUDY PURPOSE2STUDY LOCATION2FIRST COMPONENT OF CONSTRUCTION3 |
| 3.0 REPOR | RT SCOPE4 |
| 3.1 3.2 | STUDY SCOPE |
| 4.0 METH | ODOLOGY / PROCESS5 |
| 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 | IDENTIFY POTENTIAL RISK FACTORS 5 REFINE RISK REGISTER AND ASSIGN RISK LEVELS 6 DEVELOP FINAL RISK REGISTER AND QUANTIFY RISK FACTORS 6 4.3.1 CONTINGENCY RISK FACTORS 7 RUN CRYSTAL BALL SIMULATIONS AND ANALYZE CONTINGENCIES 9 |
| 5.0 KEY A | SSUMPTIONS10 |
| 6.0 RISK A | NALYSIS RESULTS11 |
| 6.1 6.2 6.3 | Cost Risk Analysis Contingency Results |
| 7.0 MAJO | R FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS / RECOMMENDATIONS14 |
| 7.1 7.2 | MAJOR FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS |
| 8.0 REFER | 20 RENCES |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table ES-1. Cost Summary - Program Year (2012) First Component of Construction |
|---|
| Initial Restoration Project CostES-1 |
| Table ES-2. Cost Summary - Fully Funded First Component of Construction Initial |
| Restoration Project CostES-2 |
| Table 1. Topics and Work Breakdown Structure Analyzed |
| Table 2. First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Project Cost Estimate with |
| Contingencies Summary11 |
| Table 3. First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Project Construction |
| Schedule with Contingencies Summary12 |
| Table 4. Baseline Construction Cost Comparison Summary for the Initial Restoration of |
| the First Component of Construction16 |
| Table 5. Baseline Construction Schedule Comparison Summary for the Initial |
| Restoration of the First Component of Construction17 |
| Table 6. Cost Summary - Program Year (2012) First Component of Construction Initial |
| Restoration Project Cost18 |
| Table 7. Cost Summary - Fully Funded First Component of Construction Initial |
| Restoration Project Cost18 |
| |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. | First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Cost Sensitivity | |
|-----------|--|----|
| - | Analysis | 13 |
| Figure 2. | First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Schedule Sensitivity | |
| - | Analysis | 14 |
| | • | |

LIST OF APPENDICES

| Detailed High Hegisters minimum in the second |
|---|
|---|

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents a recommendation for the total project cost and schedule contingencies for initial restoration of the first component of construction of the Louisiana Coastal Authority, Terrebonne Basin Barrier Shoreline Restoration Study in Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes, Louisiana. The first component of construction includes the initial restoration of Whiskey Island to a design of Plan C with renourishment events in Target Year (TY) 20 and 40 following the initial restoration. The renourishment in TY20 would be to a design of Plan C and in TY40 to a design of Plan B. In compliance with Engineer Regulation (ER) 1110-2-1302 Civil Works Cost Engineering, dated September 15, 2008, a formal risk analysis study was conducted for the development of contingency on the total project cost for the initial restoration exclusive of the operation and maintenance construction activities. The purpose of this risk analysis study was to establish project contingencies by identifying and measuring the cost and schedule impact of project uncertainties with respect to the estimated project cost for the initial restoration of Whiskey Island.

The most likely program year (2012) baseline project cost for initial restoration is estimated to be approximately \$92.2 Million. Based on the results of the analysis it is recommended that a contingency and escalation value of approximately \$23.9 Million, or 28%, be added to the total project cost for a fully funded cost of \$119.3 Million.

The following tables ES-1 and ES-2 present both the baseline cost and fully funded project cost, respectively, of the initial restoration component for the first component of construction based on the anticipated contract. The cost is intended to address the congressional request of project cost estimates to implement the project. The contingency is based on an 80% confidence level, as per U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Civil Works guidance.

| LCA TBBSR First Component of Construction Total Project Costs | | Program Year Cost | Contingency ¹ | Program Year Total Cost ² |
|--|---|----------------------|--------------------------|--|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$51,238 | \$15,371 | \$66,609 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$78,457,696 | \$21,732,782 | \$100,190,478 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$3,924,836 | \$1,087,180 | \$5,012,016 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$3,922,786 | \$1,086,612 | \$5,009,398 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$92,177,756 | \$23,921,945 | \$116,099,701 |

Table ES-1. Cost Summary - Program Year (2012)First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Project Cost

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

| Table ES-2. | Cost Summary - Fully Funded First Component of Construction |
|-------------|---|
| | Initial Restoration Project Cost |

| LCA TBBSR First Component of Construction Total Project Costs | | Program Year Cost | Total Contingencies & Escalations ¹ | Fully Funded Total ² |
|--|---|----------------------|---|---------------------------------------|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$51,238 | \$15,908 | \$67,146 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$78,457,696 | \$24,773,119 | \$103,230,815 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$3,924,836 | \$1,118,110 | \$5,042,946 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$3,922,786 | \$1,235,170 | \$5,157,956 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$92,177,756 | \$27,142,306 | \$119,320,062 |

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

KEY FINDINGS/OBSERVATIONS/RECOMMENDATIONS

The key cost risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the first component of construction are Internal Risk PED-11 Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune Borrow Area) and External Risks PR-2 (Fuel Prices), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-7 (Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market) which together contribute 96.4% of the statistical cost variance.

The key schedule risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the first component of construction are External Risks PR-1

(Sponsor's Ability to Fund its Share), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), and PR-10 (Dredge Acquisition), which together contribute 91.8% of the statistical schedule variance.

Recommendations, as detailed within the main report, include the implementation of cost and schedule contingencies, further iterative study of risks throughout the project lifecycle, potential mitigation throughout the Planning, Engineering & Design phase, and proactive monitoring and control of risk identified in this study.

1.0 PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present the findings and results of the Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis for the Louisiana Coastal Authority, Terrebonne Basin Barrier Shoreline Restoration Study (LCA TBBSR). The results presented in this report include the recommended contingencies to be added to the base estimate cost for the initial restoration component of the first component of construction. Additionally, to provide confidence that the actual project execution costs will be within the resulting estimated budget value. Furthermore, the scope of the report includes the identification and communication of important steps, logic, key assumptions, limitations, and decisions to help ensure that risk analysis results can be appropriately interpreted. The results presented herein are intended to provide project leadership with contingency information for scheduling, budgeting, and project control purposes, as well as, provide tools to support decision making and risk management as the project progresses through Planning, Engineering & Design and project implementation.

2.0 Study BACKGROUND

2.1 PARTICIPATING AGENCIES

The responsible lead Federal agency for this study is the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) - Mississippi Valley, New Orleans District. The non-Federal sponsor for the study is Louisiana Office of Coastal Protection and Restoration.

2.2 STUDY AUTHORIZATION

Title VII of the Water Resources Development Act (WRDA) 2007 authorizes the LCA ecosystem restoration program. Included within that authority are requirements for comprehensive coastal restoration planning, program governance, a Science and Technology Program, a program for the beneficial use of dredged material, feasibility studies for restoration plans, project modification investigations, and restoration project construction, in addition to other program elements. This authorization was recommended by the Chief of Engineer's Report, dated January 31, 2005.

Under the 2007 WRDA Section 7006, the LCA program has authority for feasibilitylevel reports of six near-term critical restoration features of which includes the LCA TBBSR Study.

2.3 STUDY PURPOSE

The purpose of the proposed action is to address the goal of the 2004 LCA Plan; specifically, to address the critical near-term needs for shoreline restoration in Terrebonne Basin through simulation of historical conditions, which will be achieved by enlarging the existing barrier islands (width and dune crest) and reducing the current number of breaches. Additional objectives include analyzing the current conditions of the barrier islands, assessing impacts from the hurricanes of 2005 and 2008, and reaffirming the validity of the findings of the Final Environmental Impact Statement. The Integrated Feasibility Study and Environmental Impact Statement is based on a thorough review of existing scientific and engineering reports, as well as geospatial, survey, and geotechnical data.

2.4 STUDY LOCATION

The LCA TBBSR, located in LCA Subprovince 3, provides for the restoration of the Timbalier and Isles Dernieres barrier island reaches located in Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes, Louisiana. The Study area is located in the 3rd Congressional District.

The Isles Dernieres Reach

The Isles Dernieres reach represents a barrier island arc approximately 22 miles long in Terrebonne Parish and extends from Caillou Bay east to Cat Island Pass. Raccoon Island, Whiskey Island, Trinity Island, East Island, and Wine Island, the primary islands that comprise the Isles Dernieres barrier island chain, are backed by Bay Blanc, Bay Round, Caillou Bay, and Terrebonne Bay, and bordered by the Gulf of Mexico on the seaward side. The islands range from approximately 0.1 to 1.2 miles wide and are generally composed of a thin sand cap over a thick mud platform. Elevations are generally low and the islands are frequently over washed.

The Isles Dernieres have been and continue to be an important commercial and recreational resource for Louisiana and the nation for more than 150 years. The islands support habitats that are critical to the State's commercial fishing industry. Furthermore, the mineral-rich subsurface of the island range supports a high concentration of active oil and gas wells.

The first major coastal resort in Louisiana was located here and was washed away by the great hurricane of 1856. The Isles Dernieres have also been the location of five Coastal Wetland Planning, Protection, and Restoration Act projects. These projects included: Raccoon Island (TE-29), Whiskey Island (TE-27), Trinity Island (TE-24), East Island (TE-20), and New Cut (TE-37).

The Timbalier Islands Reach

The Timbalier Islands reach is comprised of Timbalier Island and East Timbalier Island. The two islands are on the western edge of the Lafourche barrier shoreline and are located about 60 miles southwest of New Orleans, Louisiana. This barrier island shoreline is approximately 20 miles long and backed by Terrebonne and Timbalier Bay to the north and delimited by Raccoon Pass to the east and Cat Island Pass to the west. The islands range from 0.1 to 0.6 miles wide and have low elevations. The Timbalier Islands support onshore and offshore oil and gas development and production. Oil and gas production facilities are prevalent along East Timbalier Island, while only a few scattered facilities are present along Timbalier Island.

2.5 FIRST COMPONENT OF CONSTRUCTION

Whiskey Island Plan C was selected as initial restoration of the first component of construction. The plan will create a total of 1,272 acres of barrier island habitat The initial restoration includes the construction of 65 acres of dune, 830 acres of supratidal habitat, and 377 acres of intertidal habitat. The initial restoration will be constructed on the existing island footprint, which consists of 377 acres of supratidal habitat and 443 acres of intertidal habitat at TY0. Renourishment events are planned for Target Year (TY) 20 and 40 following initial restoration. The renourishment events were not evaluated in this risk analysis.

The barrier island restoration features of the initial restoration would achieve the planning objectives by maximizing the barrier island's ability to provide geomorphic and hydrologic form and ecological function, as well as, improve critical barrier island habitats for fish, migratory birds, and other terrestrial and aquatic species. Sediment would be placed into the system to supplement long-shore sediment transport processes along the gulf shoreline by mechanically introducing compatible sediment, and increasing the ability of the restored area to continue to function and provide habitat with minimum continuing intervention.

The selection of the first component of construction was based on a thorough review of existing scientific and engineering reports, as well as geospatial, survey, and geotechnical data which reaffirmed that the findings of the Final Environmental Impact Statement remained valid.

3.0 REPORT SCOPE

3.1 STUDY SCOPE

Engineering Circular Bulletin (ECB) 2007-17, Application of Cost Risk Analysis Methods to Develop Contingencies for Civil Works Total Project Costs (Sept. 10, 2007) requires that a formal risk analysis be prepared for all decision documents requiring Congressional authorization whose total costs are in excess of forty million dollars.

In addition to broadly defined risk analysis standards and recommended practices, a risk analysis is to be performed to meet the requirements and recommendations of the following documents and sources:

- Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis Process guidance prepared by the USACE Cost Engineering Directory of Expertise for Civil Works (Cost Engineering Dx), dated May 17, 2009.
- Engineer Regulation (ER) 1110-2-1302 Civil Works Cost Engineering, dated Sept. 15, 2008.
- Engineer Technical Letter (ETL) 1110-2-573 Construction Cost Estimating Guide for Civil Works, dated Sept. 30, 2008.

3.2 USACE RISK ANALYSIS PROCESS

A risk analysis is performed to determine the probability of various cost and schedule variances that could affect the total project cost. The analyses of the cost risk factors associated with the project will determine the required contingency needed in the cost estimate to achieve any desired level of cost confidence. A similar analysis is also used to determine the probability of various project schedule duration impacts and then quantify the required schedule contingency needed in the schedule to achieve any desired level of schedule confidence. Together the contingency for both cost and schedule will provide a total project cost and schedule at the desired confidence level.

The risk analysis process uses Monte Carlo techniques to determine probabilities and contingency. The Monte Carlo techniques are facilitated computationally by a commercially available risk analysis software package (Crystal Ball) that is an add-in to Microsoft Excel. The software determines contingency amounts based on specific 'confidence levels'. These confidence levels express the probability that the corresponding contingency amount will cover the cost of the project being studied.

In general, the amount of contingency included in project control plans depends on the project leadership's willingness to accept risk of project overruns. The less risk that project leadership is willing to accept, the more contingency that should be applied in the project control plans. This risk of overrun is expressed by Crystal Ball in a probabilistic context using confidence levels. The Cost Engineering Dx guidance for cost and schedule risk analysis focuses on risk and opportunity potential, all project features, internal and external risks to the project. The Cost Engineering Dx recommends budget presentation with a contingency value at the eighty-percent level of confidence (80%) for successful project execution within the established budget. This 80% confidence level is the standard normally provided to Congress by USACE and other Government agencies.

4.0 METHODOLOGY / PROCESS

A risk analysis begins with the identification of risk factors for the restoration. The risk identification process includes the major PDT members knowledgeable with the potential impacts. The risks are then compared for commonalities with other risk factors and a preliminary risk register is developed for risk level assignment. Following risk level evaluation and assignment, those risk factor found to have 'moderate' or 'high' impact risks are carried forward to the final risk register and quantified. The final risk register serves as the risk models used within the Crystal Ball software. These primary steps of the risk analysis process, in functional terms, are described in the following subsections.

4.1 IDENTIFY POTENTIAL RISK FACTORS

The risk analysis process began with a brainstorming session to identify any and all potential risk factors associated with the project. These potential risks were then evaluated to determine if correlations existed between any of the potential risk factors. Risk factors that were determined to have correlations were analyzed to determine the nature of the correlation. If strong correlations existed then the factors were combined into a single risk factor. If correlations were determined wherein the risk factors had similarities but contained inherent differences, the factors were revised and/or additional risk factors were added such that all risks could be evaluated individually.

The risks developed and refined during the brainstorming sessions were transferred into a risk register template in Microsoft Excel as the Initial Risk Register (Attachment A).

4.2 REFINE RISK REGISTER AND ASSIGN RISK LEVELS

The initial risk register was structured such that elements of risk were assigned under a topic and feature code and given a risk factor number allowing traceability throughout the

process. Similar to the identification and assessment process, risk factor quantification involved the evaluation of the impact of the risk on the project. The risk factors were assigned a likelihood of occurrence and a level of impact the risk would have on the project cost or schedule. Table 1 provides a listing of the topics and feature codes evaluated in this risk assessment.

| PPM | Project and Program Management |
|-----|--|
| 01 | Lands and Damages |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design |
| 31 | Construction Management |
| PR | Programmatic Risks |

 Table 1. Topics and Work Breakdown Structure Analyzed

4.3 DEVELOP FINAL RISK REGISTER AND QUANTIFY RISK FACTORS

Those risk factors determined to have a 'moderate' or 'high' impact on the project cost or schedule were carried forward to the final risk register and quantified.

The quantification process involved collaboration between the ATR review lead, District cost engineers, and the A/E cost estimators. This process used an iterative approach to estimate the following elements of each risk factor:

- Maximum possible value for the risk factor (high value, worst-case)
- Minimum possible value for the risk factor (low value, best-case)
- Most likely value (the original estimate value, if applicable)
- Nature of the probability density function used to approximate risk factor uncertainty
- Correlations between risk factors
- Affected cost and/or schedule elements

Information was extracted from the cost estimates and placed into the final cost risk register for cost risk analysis purposes (Attachment A). For the schedule risk analysis, the durations for each risk (if applicable) were placed into a final schedule risk register (Attachment A).

4.3.1 Contingency Risk Factors

The following are those elements analyzed in the cost and schedule risk models to determine the appropriate contingencies.

4.3.1.1 Beach/Dune and Marsh Fill Design Quantities (Cost & Schedule)

The island design was developed utilizing survey data collected in 2006 as part of the Louisiana Barrier Island Comprehensive Monitoring Program (UNO and USGS, 2009). Through the use of shoreline erosion and landloss rates in the above referenced program, the fill volumes required in 2012 for beach/dune and marsh were calculated. A risk variance of +/-10% of the required volume was used to evaluate the risk associated with a decrease or increase in the erosional effects experienced by the island during this six year period in addition to a storm event proceeding or during construction. The variances in beach/dune and marsh required volumes were analyzed as separate risk elements so as to assess the risk if the beach/dune and marsh fill template experience differing erosional influences.

4.3.1.2 Geotechnical Issues with the Beach/Dune and Marsh Fill Borrow Areas (Cost and Schedule)

The sediment characteristics of the proposed borrow areas for beach/dune and marsh construction were analyzed from data collected within these borrow sources as part of designs for other restoration projects. Projected dredge-to-fill ratios were established and used in the production estimates for the dredge during construction of the beach/dune and marsh fill templates. To quantify variances induced by differing sediment characteristics that could be experienced within the borrow areas proposed for beach/dune fill and the marsh fill, differing ratios better than and worse than the most likely dredge-to-fill were evaluated for their affect on the construction cost. Sediment characteristics are one of three driving forces in determining production rates for the dredging equipment.

4.3.1.3 Sponsor's Ability to Fund Its Share (Schedule)

A delay of six months in the procurement of funds to begin construction of the project was evaluated. The low risk was assumed to be the same as the most likely schedule for construction. The high risk was analyzed at a delay of six months for the beginning of construction.

4.3.1.4 Fuel Prices (Cost)

Overall affects of fuel prices on construction cost were analyzed. The most likely fuel price was derived from an average of fuel prices for 2009. A lower risk assumes the price of fuel would fall by as much as 25% from the 2009 average. A higher risk assumes that a volatile market could increase fuel prices by as much as 60% above the 2009 average price.

4.3.1.5 Severe Weather Downtime (Cost & Schedule)

The effects of dredging material in the open Gulf of Mexico on the dredge's effective operational hours per day were evaluated. A dredge may experience higher average operational time per day during periods of favorable weather and conversely experience lower than average operational time during periods of increases sea state such as during winter months. The most likely, worst case, and best case operational time per day were established by review of USACE prior dredging projects. Operational time of the dredging equipment is one of three driving forces in determining production rates for the dredging equipment.

4.3.1.6 Delays due to Design Modifications (Schedule)

Following pre-construction surveys of the fill templates, design modification may be required to adjust the fill templates to maximize effectiveness of the island restoration. Through prior restoration project experience of the design team, a two month delay in beginning construction was considered as the high risk variance for the project schedule.

4.3.1.7 Long Pipeline to Island for Beach/Dune Fill (Cost & Schedule)

In development of the dredging production rates, it was determined that it was feasible to construct the beach/dune fill template using as few as two boosters from the borrow area to the fill template. The most likely number of boosters the contractor would use is three to maintain higher production rates. The number of booster pumps utilized in the delivery of sediment to the fill template is one of three driving forces in determining the production rates for the dredging equipment. Construction cost and schedule variances were calculated to evaluate the affects on project cost and schedule if the contractor chose to utilize only two booster pumps during the construction of the beach/dune fill template.

4.3.1.8 Bidder's Risk in a Volatile Market (Cost)

The affects on construction cost of based on the risk assumed by the contractor were analyzed. These risks are those carried by the contractors that are not analyzed in other risk elements of this model. Those risks analyzed elsewhere include fuel prices, pipeline steel prices, weather delays, dredge acquisition, and additional mobilizations due to hurricanes. Examples of volatile market risk include, but are not limited to, other projects out for bid requiring the contractor's resources, labor force prices, and construction equipment availability. A low risk assumes the contractor is eager for the contractor may be over extending his resources and submits a bid 25% higher than the most likely construction cost.

4.3.1.9 Pipeline Steel Prices (Cost)

The risk associated with the changing price per pound of steel was analyzed to determine it's affect on the cost of the sediment delivery pipeline. Utilizing pricing from prior USACE projects, the assumed current cost per pound for steel was set a \$0.60, the low price at \$0.45, and the high price at \$1.50. These prices were used in the determination of unit cost variances for beach/dune and marsh fill.

4.3.1.10 Dredge Acquisition (Schedule)

The risk associated with the availability of dredges for restoration construction at the time of notice to proceed for the contractor was considered. The delay to the construction schedule, while awaiting a dredge to become available from another project, was determined to be 6 months.

4.3.1.11 Hurricane Demobilization/Re-mobilization (Cost & Schedule)

For the possibility of a hurricane affecting the project during construction, an additional demobilization/re-mobilization of the crew, equipment, and dredge to safe harbor was evaluated.

4.4 RUN CRYSTAL BALL SIMULATIONS AND ANALYZE CONTINGENCIES

Once the risk factors were refined into the final risk resisters for cost and schedule, the final quantitative impacts of risk factors served as the risk model and were analyzed using a combination of professional judgment, empirical data and analytical techniques. The software uses the most likely, low, and high values for various risks. The most likely

value is usually the value used in the cost estimate. The low and high values, or best-case and worst-case values, are quantified based off a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the cost estimate. The software uses these values in conjunction with the associated probability distribution assigned to each risk to run its Monte Carlo simulations. Once the software has finished its simulation the total cost of the project with contingency is forecast for specific confidence levels. The resulting 80% confidence level contingency amount is the difference between the 80% cost forecast and the base cost estimate. For schedule contingency analysis, the contingency was calculated as the difference between the 80% level duration forecast and the base schedule duration, shown in months. These new durations suggested by the 80% confidence level were then incorporated into the escalation calculation, i.e., the escalation of the baseline estimate of cost in the Total Project Cost Summary (TPCS) of the initial restoration of the first component of construction.

The forecasts for cost and/or schedule risk can then be analyzed to determine the recommended level of contingency for the project. As stated earlier, the contingencies suggested by the higher confidence levels will account for more risk in the project; conversely, the amounts suggested by the lower confidence levels could possible leave the project without sufficient funding if some events do not go as planned.

5.0 KEY ASSUMPTIONS

Key assumptions are those that are most likely to affect the determinations and/or estimates of risk presented in the risk analysis. The key assumptions are important to help ensure that project leadership and other decision makers understand the steps, logic, limitations, and decisions made in the risk analysis, as well as any resultant limitations on the use of outcomes and results. For this project, the assumptions include:

- 1. Level of Design: The cost comparisons and risk analyses performed and reflected within this report are based upon design scope and estimates that are considered to be well developed and designed.
- 2. Design Scope: The prescribed scope satisfies the requirements of this acquisition.
- 3. Operation and Maintenance: Operation and maintenance activities were not included in the cost estimate or schedules, because none were planned for the selected alternative.
- 4. Contract Acquisition Strategy: Consistent with cost estimate and schedule assumptions, it is assumed that the contract acquisition strategy is firm fixed price.
- 5. Confidence Levels: The Wall Walla Cost Engineering Dx guidance generally focuses on the eighty-percent level of confidence (80%) for cost contingency

calculation. For this risk analysis, the eighty-percent level of confidence (80%) was used. It should be noted that the use of 80% as a decision criteria is a moderately risk averse approach, generally resulting in higher cost contingencies. However, the 80% level of confidence also assumes a small degree of risk that the recommended contingencies may be inadequate to completely capture actual project costs.

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS RESULTS

The cost and schedule risk analysis results are provided in the following sections. In addition to contingency calculation results, sensitivity analyses are presented to provide decision makers with an understanding of variability and the key contributors to the cause of this variability.

6.1 COST RISK ANALYSIS CONTINGENCY RESULTS

The construction cost contingencies calculated for the 80% confidence level and rounded to the nearest thousand are shown in Table 2. The construction cost contingencies for the 50% and 100% confidence levels are also provided for illustrative purposes.

The Mii cost estimate produced by USACE-MVN Cost Engineering and A/E cost estimators with review by the ATR review lead provide initial construction costs of \$90.1 Million for the initial restoration with a price level of the estimate in the 1st quarter 2010. At the 80% confidence level, the base estimate construction cost contingency was quantified as approximately \$23.3 Million, with a baseline cost of \$113.4 Million.

| Troject Cost Estimate with Contingencies Summary | | | | |
|--|-----------------------------------|---------------------------|--|---|
| Contingency Level | MII Cost Estimate (\$1,000) | Contingency Percentage | Total Contingency (\$1,000) ¹ | Baseline Cost Estimate (\$1,000) ² |
| 50% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$90,091 | 18.4% | \$16,602 | \$106,693 |
| 80% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$90,091 | 27.7% | \$24,988 | \$115,079 |
| 100% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Cost | \$90,091 | 59.2% | \$53,320 | \$143,411 |

 Table 2. First Component of Construction Initial Restoration

 Project Cost Estimate with Contingencies Summary

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from Risk Analysis Forecast

6.2 SCHEDULE RISK ANALYSIS CONTINGENCY RESULTS

The original estimate of PED and construction duration for the initial restoration was 34.6 months. At the 80% confidence level, the projected duration for construction was 46.3 months – an increase of 34%. The schedule contingency was calculated by applying the moderate and high level schedule risks identified in the risk register for each option to the durations of critical path and near critical path tasks.

| Risk Analysis Forecast | Forecast Schedule | Total Contingency | Crystal Ball Forecast Schedule |
|--|----------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 50% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Duration | 34.6 months | 26% | 43.7 months |
| 80% Confidence Level- Initial Restoration Project Duration | 34.6 months | 34% | 46.3 months |
| 100% Confidence Level - Initial Restoration Project Duration | 34.6 months | 55% | 53.5 months |

Table 3. First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Project Construction Schedule with Contingencies Summary

6.3 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS RESULTS

Sensitivity analysis ranks the relative impact of each risk/opportunity as a percentage of total cost uncertainty. The Crystal Ball software uses a statistical measure (contribution to variance) that approximates the impact of each risk or opportunity contributing to variability of cost outcomes during the Monte Carlo simulations.

The risks or opportunities that are considered as key drivers are ranked in the order of significance to the total project costs variances. Risks are shown with a positive sign to reflect the potential to increase project cost. Opportunities that have a potential to reduce project cost and are shown with a negative sign. A longer bar in the sensitivity analysis chart indicates the risk has a greater potential impact to total project cost.

Figure 1 presents the sensitivity analyses for cost growth for those risks identified in the risk register as having a moderate to high level of impact. Similarly, Figure 2 presents a sensitivity analysis for schedule growth risk.

The key cost risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the first component of construction are Internal Risk PED-11 Geotechnical

Issues Beach/Dune Borrow Area) and External Risks PR-2 (Fuel Prices), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), PR-7 (Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market) which together contribute 96.4% of the statistical cost variance.

The key schedule risk drivers identified through sensitivity analysis for the initial restoration component of the first component of construction are External Risks PR-1 (Sponsor's Ability to Fund its Share), PR-3 (Severe Weather/Downtime), PR-5 (Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill), and PR-10 (Dredge Acquisition), which together contribute 91.8% of the statistical schedule variance.



Figure 1. First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Cost Sensitivity Analysis



Figure 2. First Component of Construction Initial Restoration Schedule Sensitivity Analysis

7.0 MAJOR FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS / RECOMMENDATION

This section provides a summary of the significant risk analysis results that were identified in the preceding sections of the report. Risk analysis results are intended to provide project leadership with contingency information for scheduling, budgeting, and project control purposes, as well as to provide tools to support decision making and risk management as projects progress through planning and implementation. Because of the potential for use of risk analysis results for such diverse purposes, this section also reiterates and highlights important steps, logic, key assumptions, limitations, and decisions to help ensure that the risk analysis results are appropriately interpreted.

7.1 MAJOR FINDINGS / OBSERVATIONS

The total construction cost and schedule comparison summaries from Crystal Ball are provided in Tables 5 and 6, respectively. Additional major findings and observations of the risk analysis are listed below.

- 1. Base cost contingency recommended for the initial restoration of the first component of construction is approximately \$23.3 Million, for a total cost of approximately \$113.4 Million. This figure is derived from the 80% confidence level values calculated by Crystal Ball (Table 4). It should be noted that the contingency cost calculated by the TPCS are slightly lower because the cost contingency and escalation are inclusive in the program cost provided by the Adaptive Management Plan development team and therefore not calculated by the TPCS.
- 2. Schedule duration contingency recommended for the initial restoration of the first component of construction is 11.6 months, for a total duration of 46.3 months. This monthly duration contingency is reflective of the 80% confidence level values calculated by Crystal Ball (Table 5).
- 3. As shown in Figures 1 and 2, the cost risk and schedule risk for initial restoration of the first component of construction are mostly dependent on two risk factors each.
- 4. Operation and maintenance activities were not included in the presented cost estimate or schedules. Therefore, a full lifecycle risk analysis could not be performed. Risk analysis results or conclusions could be significantly different if operation and maintenance activities were included.

| Forecast: TOTAL PROJECT COST | Percentile | Forecast values |
|---------------------------------------|---|--------------------|
| | 0% | \$74,800,821 |
| | 5% | \$91,873,811 |
| | 10% | \$94,897,412 |
| | 15% | \$96,990,201 |
| | 20% | \$98,741,687 |
| | 25% | \$100,219,322 |
| | 30% | \$101,587,141 |
| | 35% | \$102,919,229 |
| | 40% | \$104,242,060 |
| | 45% | \$105,478,621 |
| | 50% | \$106,693,400 |
| | 55% | \$107,926,332 |
| | 60% | \$109,192,163 |
| | 65% | \$110,504,078 |
| | 70% | \$111,882,252 |
| | 75% | \$113,402,851 |
| | 80% | \$115,078,520 |
| | 85% | \$117,028,899 |
| | 90% | \$119,521,613 |
| | 95% | \$123,159,649 |
| | 100% | \$143,410,786 |
| | Minimum | \$74,800,821 |
| | Maximum | \$143,410,786 |
| | 80% Confidence Level: | \$115,078,520 |
| | Original Project Cost: | \$90,089,312 |
| | Total Contingency Based on 80% Confidence: | 27.7% |

 Table 4. Baseline Construction Cost Comparison Summary for the Initial

 Restoration of the First Component of Construction

| Forecast: TOTAL PROJECT SCHEDULE | Percentile | Forecast values |
|---|---|--------------------|
| | 0% | 33.1 |
| | 5% | 38.8 |
| | 10% | 39.8 |
| | 15% | 40.6 |
| | 20% | 41.1 |
| | 25% | 41.6 |
| | 30% | 42.1 |
| | 35% | 42.5 |
| | 40% | 42.9 |
| | 45% | 43.3 |
| | 50% | 43.7 |
| | 55% | 44.1 |
| | 60% | 44.5 |
| | 65% | 44.9 |
| | 70% | 45.3 |
| | 75% | 45.8 |
| | 80% | 46.3 |
| | 85% | 46.8 |
| | 90% | 47.6 |
| | 95% | 48.6 |
| | 100% | 53.5 |
| | Minimum | 33.1 |
| | Maximum | 53.5 |
| | 80% Confidence Level: | 46.3 |
| | Original Project Cost: | 34.6 |
| | Total Contingency Based on 80% Confidence: | 33.7% |

Table 5. Baseline Construction Schedule Comparison Summary for the InitialRestoration of the First Component of Construction

Through utilization of the TPCS, the base cost estimate for the initial restoration from the Mii escalated to the project year of the 1st quarter 2012 equals approximately \$92.1 Million. Adding the cost and schedule influence contingencies provides a project cost of approximately \$116.1 Million. A breakdown of the program year cost by work feature is presented in Table 6.

| LC Co | A TBBSR First Component of nstruction Total Project Costs | Program Year Cost ² | Contingency ¹ | Program Year Total Cost ² |
|----------|--|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$51,238 | \$15,371 | \$66,609 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$78,457,696 | \$21,732,782 | \$100,190,478 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$3,924,836 | \$1,087,180 | \$5,012,016 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$3,922,786 | \$1,086,612 | \$5,009,398 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$92,177,756 | \$23,921,945 | \$116,099,701 |

| Table 6. | Cost Summary - Program Year (2012) |
|------------------------|--|
| First Component | of Construction Initial Restoration Project Cost |

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

Expanding on the program year cost estimate, escalation to midpoint of work features can be calculated. The results provide a fully funded project cost of approximately \$119.3 Million. A breakdown of the fully funded project cast is presented in Table 7.

| LC Co | A TBBSR First Component of nstruction Total Project Costs | Program Year Cost ² | All Contingencies & Escalations ¹ | Fully Funded Total ² |
|----------|--|-----------------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|
| 01 | Lands & Damages | \$51,238 | \$15,908 | \$67,146 |
| 06 | Fish & Wildlife (Adaptive Management Plan) | \$5,821,200 | Included | \$5,821,200 |
| 17 | Beach Replenishment | \$78,457,696 | \$24,773,119 | \$103,230,815 |
| 30 | Planning, Engineering & Design | \$3,924,836 | \$1,118,110 | \$5,042,946 |
| 31 | Construction Management | \$3,922,786 | \$1,235,170 | \$5,157,956 |
| | Total Project Costs | \$92,177,756 | \$27,142,306 | \$119,320,062 |

| Table 7. | Cost Summary - Fully Funded First Component of Construction |
|----------|--|
| | Initial Restoration Project Cost |

Notes: 1. Adaptive Management Plan cost includes prior escalation & contingency and is subjected to the Total Contingency and Escalation.

2. Costs taken from TPCS

7.2 **Recommendations**

Risk Management is an all-encompassing, iterative, and life-cycle process of project management. The Project Management Institute's (PMI) A Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK® Guide), 4th edition, states that "project risk management includes the processes concerned with conducting risk management planning, identification, analysis, responses, and monitoring and control on a project." Risk identification and analysis are processes within the knowledge area of risk management. Its outputs pertinent to this effort include the risk register, risk quantification (risk analysis model), contingency report, and the sensitivity analysis.

The intended use of these outputs is implementation by the project leadership with respect to risk responses (such as mitigation) and risk monitoring and control. In short, the effectiveness of the project risk management effort requires that the proactive management of risks not conclude with the study completed in this report.

This section provides a list of recommendations for continued management of the risks identified and analyzed in this study. (Note: this list is not all-inclusive)

- 1. Cost Estimate Quality: The cost estimate was developed for the restoration of Whiskey Island based on feasibility level surveys and designs. Risks associated with the information utilized in the designs have been analyzed within this risk assessment. It is recommended that the project leadership, restoration design team, and project cost estimators work closely in re-evaluating the project cost elements and associated cost risks during the Planning, Engineering, & Design phase of the project as more detailed design information becomes available.
- 2. Schedule Quality: As with the project costs, the schedule was developed based on feasibility level information; the assumption of initiation date of Planning, Engineering, & Design; and the appropriation construction funding date anticipated by the WRDA legislation. It is recommended that project leadership use the results of the schedule risk analysis in re-evaluating the schedule risk as the project progresses forward and more definitive timeline of events becomes available.
- 3. Risk Management: The outputs created during the risk analysis effort are recommended to be used as tools in future risk management processes. The risk register should be updated at each major project milestone. The results of the sensitivity analysis may also be used for response planning strategy and

development. These tools should be used in conjunction with regular risk review meetings. As an example, recommended uses of the risk register include:

- Documenting risk mitigation strategies being pursued in response to the identified risks and their assessment in terms of probability and impact.
- Providing project sponsors, stakeholders, leadership, and management with a documented framework from which risk status can be reported in the context of project controls.
- Communicating risk management issues.
- Providing a mechanism for eliciting risk analysis feedback and project control input.
- Identifying risk transfer, elimination or mitigation actions required for implementation of risk management plans.
- 4. Risk Analysis Updates: Project leadership should review risk items identified in the original risk register and add others, as required, throughout the project life-cycle. Risks should be reviewed for status and reevaluation (using qualitative measure, at a minimum) and placed on risk management watch lists if any risk's likelihood or impact significantly increases. Project leadership should also be mindful of the potential for secondary (new risks created specifically by the response to an original risk) and residual risks (risks that remain and have unintended impact following response).

8.0 REFERENCES

University of New Orleans and United States Geological Survey (UNO and USGS). 2009. Louisiana Barrier Island Comprehensive Monitoring Program (BICM) Volume 3: Bathymetry and Historical Seafloor Change 1869-2007. Part 1: South-Central Louisiana and Northern Chandeleur Islands, Bathymetry Methods and Uncertainty Analysis. Final Report. January 2009.

ATTACHMENT A

Detailed Risk Registers

LCA TBBSR - First Component of Construction PDT Preliminary Risk Register

Г

| | | | | ſ | | |
|--------|----------------|----------|----------|------------------|-------------|-------------|
| | High | High | High | High | Crisis | |
| | High | High | Moderate | Low | Critical | rrence |
| evel | High | High | Moderate | Low | Significant | nce of Occu |
| Risk L | Moderate | Moderate | Low | Low | Marginal | or Conseque |
| | Low | Low | Low | Low | Negligible | Impact c |
| | Very Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Very Unlikely | • | |
| - | | | 0.000 | | | |

| | | | _ | | | | | | | | | |
|---------|---|---|--------------------|------------------|-------------|----------------------------|---------------|-------------|----------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|---|
| | | | _ | | 1000 | | | 0 100100 | والما والمالية | - | ľ | |
| | | | - | Projec | t Cost | \setminus | ľ | Project S | chedule | T | | |
| Risk No | Risk/Opportunity Event | Discussion and Concerns | / Likelihood* | Impact* | Risk Level* | Rough Order Impact (\$) | Likelihood* | Impact* | Risk Level* | Rough Order Corr Impact (mo) 0 | relation to Other(s) | Notes |
| Contra | ct Risks (Internal Risk Items are those | e that are generated, caused, or controlled within t | the PDT's spher | e of influence.) | | | | | | | | |
| Project | and Program Management | | | | | | | | | | | |
| PPM-1 | Available and Timely Funding | Available funding from the Federal government. | Very Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | Very Unlikely | Significant | Low | | | |
| PPM-2 | Changes in priority | Puling tunding tor this project for other immediate needs. Competition for resources. | Very Unlikely | Marginal | Pow | - | Very Unlikely | Critical | Low | | 30-9- | Ihiskey BA 3 for marsh creation is not currently considered in any other island restorations. The TSP would utitize Ship Shon material that was reviously considered for TE-47 Whiskey West Flank project of which the TSP would replace. |
| PPM-3 | Estimating/Scheduling Errors | Chance for oversights, errors, etc., as the schedule and scope of work are driving the estimate and schedule quality. | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | |
| PPM-5 | Functional Resources Overloaded/Shift of Staff Priorities | Lack of internal human resources to execute project due to heavy workload, overloaded staff, and shifting priorities. | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | |
| PPM-8 | Contract Acquisition Risks | Decreasing competition | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | ğ | It is likely that it will be a FFP large business, ased on historical, and small business does not have the capibility. |
| Fasture | . Coda 01 - Real Estata | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ו במוחו | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Feature |) Code 06 - Fish & Wildlife (Ada | active Management Plan & Monitoring) | | | | | | | | | | |
| FW-1 | Adaptive Management Plan & Monitoring (AMP) shortened duration | AMP may not require the full 10 years budgeted to determine ecological success (opportunity) | Unlikely | Marginal | Pow | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | t a | A reduction in the AMP to 7 years equates to a duction in total project cost of 2%. However du to the significance of the aquired data during this period it is unlikely that the program would be shortened. |
| FW-2 | Survey cost escalation | Cost of field survey crews may be greater or less than budgeted. If greater than budgeted, survey coverage have to be reduced. If less than budgeted, survey coverage could be expanded. | Likely | Negligible | Low | | Likely | Negligible | Low | | An | h increase of annual survey cost of 10% equate to 0.5% of total project cost. |
| Feature | Code 17 - Beach Replenishm | ent (Beach and Marsh Construction) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Envi | ronmental & Cultural | | | | | | | | | | | |
| BR-1 | MMS Survey Issues (30-m spacing) | Borrow areas in Federal Waters are under the jurisdiction of the MMS which may enforce new survey spacing requirements, infracture officies to calculate the test and able material or increased data acquisition and permiting costs. Athough Sum reurys were aladitional CAs. | uniikely | Negligible | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | |
| BR-2 | Cultural Resources Island Specific | Raccoon, Whiskey, and Timballer Island include high, medium medium-probability area (respectively) and will require remot sensing. | , Likely | Negligible | Low | | Likely | Negligible | Low | | A | cultural resource survey is planned and will be conducted shortly for Whiskey Island (TSP). |
| BR-4 | Regulatory and Environmental Risks | Ship Shoal dredging impacts, reviewing agency requires high level review than assumed, permits take longer than expected pressure to compress the study and permitting activities | , , Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | | |
| BR-6 | Threatened & Endangered Species | Local birds and turtles could pose some threat to cost/schedule. Piping Plover | Very Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | Very Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | 57 | SFW letter supporting project and willingness to work through nesting issues. TSP one island therefore providing nesting relocation. |
| Cont | truction | | | | | | | | | | | |
| BR-8 | Permitted Activities | Activities such as pipeline construction, canal maintenance an construction on or near the project area that could affect project design, access, or exacentiate current land loss rates. | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | É | tere are no oil and gas infrastructure or pipeline within the Whiskey Island fill templates. |
| BR-9 | Pipeline from Borrow Area | Navigation Issues, oyster issues. | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | Unlikely | Negligible | Low | | | |
| BR-10 | General Dredge Cost Estimating Assumptions | Distance between island and borrow areas, weather days, dredge mob/demob costs, plant costs | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | Unlikely | Marginal | Low | | | |

| Review of USCS and MMS pipeline databases revealed that there are no known pipelines white the borrow are ar fill sites. There is one oligas tucture to the north of the laked and one pipelin leading to this sturbue for bas. Whiskey Pass. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Review of USOS and MMS pipeline databases revealed that there are no known pipelines within the borrow are of it lists. There is one oligos tructure other north of the listed and one operative listening to this structure from offstore through Whiskey Pass. | | | |
|--|--|-------------------------------|--|---|---|---|--|------------------|--|--|---|--|-----------------------------|------|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|---|
| - in | | | | PR-12 | PR-12 | PED-4 | PED-3 | | | | | BR-8 | | | | | | | | | | | | in in | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Low | row | | | Moderate | High | Low | Low | | Moderate | Moderate | Low | Low | | | | High | Low | High | High | High | Low | Low | High | Low | row | Moderate | - |
| Marginal | Negligible | | | Marginal | Significant | Marginal | Marginal | | Significant | Significant | Marginal | Marginal | | | | Significant | Negligible | Significant | Significant | Significant | Negligible | Negligible | Significant | Marginal | Negligible | Marginal | paint of toor |
| Very Unlikely | Unlikely | | | Likely | Likely | Very Unlikely | Unlikely | | Unlikely | Unlikely | Unlikely | Unlikely | | | | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Unlikely | Likely | almont of avant's |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | lence.) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Low | row | | | Moderate | Moderate | Pow | Pow | | Moderate | Moderate | Low | Low | | | sphere of influ | Low | High | High | Low | High | High | High | Low | wor | Low | Moderate | transfer to avait |
| Significant | Negligible | | | Marginal | Marginal | Marginal | Marginal | | Significant | Significant | Marginal | Marginal | | | side the PDT's | Negligible | Significant | Significant | Negligible | Significant | Significant | Significant | Negligible | Marginal | Negligible | Marginal | - information pe |
| Very Unlikely | / Unlikely | | | Likely | Likely | Very Unlikely | Unlikely | | Unlikely | Unlikely | Unlikely | , Unlikely | | | exclusively out | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Unlikely | Unlikely | Likely | ngineer). study of the PDT |
| Rek essociated with oil and gas facilities including pipelines being damaged dung optoc activities. Spits associated with damages to pipelines. | Inefficient contractor, conflicts with other contracts, site access, adequate staging areas, special equipment avaitability | ing & Design | فالمامانية المالية مستعدية مستشمط بمطاهمهم ومعالمه ماليه | material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior to or during construction. | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior to or during construction. | If models applied do not take into account or were not developed to the site-specific conditions of the Terrebonne Basi Barine Shoreline, output may each in under predicing or over predicing theotheness of project. | If model inputs including bathymetry, topography, erosion, lan change, historic wave data, sediment grain size aten't representative of current conditions, modeling output could result inflaved island templates. | | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasebility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasebility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. | Borrow area volume catculations are based on existing survey Poor data quality could result in volume shortages. | Infrastructure could be installed within the borrow areas before construction reducing the available material volumes | gement | | are those that are generated, caused, or controlled | Procuring funds from the non-federal sponser has been know to take long periods of time in the past. | Fluctuations in fuel costs could have an impact on the projec cost. | Risks associated with dredging operations in open Gulf especially during winter season and during a severe tropical storm season. Effects on dredge operational hours/day. | Modifications to design could be required at time of construction. | Risk in Productivity/efficiency with long pipeline and required number boosters. | Risk associated with bidders responding to volatile market: with higher bid prices. | Risks associated with changing steel prices increasing the cos of pipe. | Dredges for the project may not be available at all times. | Adverse impacts to existing resources (teseline conditions) resulting from accidental releases, orgoing activities. | Dozers etc. may experience mechanical issues causing downtime and reducing productivity. | Dredge and Construction equipment may need to be moved o of an island during construction due to a hurricane event | ugh market research and analysis (conducted by cost er isk Identification Checklist and through deliberation and s |
| Risk of Restoration Activates Damaging oil and gas facilities | Contractor and other Construction- related Risks | Code 30 - Planning, Engineeri | E | Marsh Fill Design Quantities | Beach Fill Design Quantities | Model Selection | Model Input Error | chnical & Survey | Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune Borrow Area | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area | Geophysical Data: Borrow Area | Petroleum Infrastructure | Code 31 - Construction Mana | | nmatic Risks (External Risk Items a | Sponsor's Ability to Fund Its Share | Fuel Prices | Severe Weather Downtime | Delays due to Design Modifications | Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill | Bidder's Risk in Volatile Market | Pipeline Steel Prices | Dredge Acquisition | Oil and Gas facilities damage (storms, accidental releases) resulting in damage to barrier resources | Shore equipment mechanical issues | Hurricane Demob/Re-mob | Impact, and Risk Level to be verified throu portunity identified with reference to the Ris |
| BR-13 | BR-14 | Feature | Desig | PED-1 | PED-2 | PED-3 | PED-4 | Geote | PED-11 | PED-12 | PED-13 | PED-15 | Feature | CM-1 | Program | PR-1 | PR-2 | PR-3 | PR-4 | PR-5 | PR-7 | PR-8 | PR-10 | PR-11 | PR-13 | PR-14 | *Likelihood, 1. Risk/Opt |

Commonstant are accurately on the events reference on the organized system, yours, your

LCA TBBSR - First Component of Construction - Initial Restoration Cost Risk Analysis Simulation

Risk Level

əce

| | | | | | | | High | | \$6,584 | \$629,590 | \$9,570,786 | \$4,119,075 | | \$19,371,247 | \$5,864,012 | \$8,522,783 | \$19,140,480 | \$5,022,145 | \$1,887,415 | | |
|-----------|-----------|-----------|------------------|------------------|----------------|--------------------------------|--|-------------------------------|---|---|---|--|------------------------------|--|---|---|--|---|---|---------------------------------------|--------------|
| | | | | | | Crystal Ball Simulation | Likely | | 0\$ | 0\$ | 0\$ | 0\$ | | 0\$ | 0\$ | 0\$ | \$0 | \$0 | 0\$ | \$90,089,312 | \$90.089.312 |
| | | | | | | | Low | | -\$47,997 | -\$522,459 | -\$1,636,537 | -\$809,217 | | -\$8,736,365 | -\$7,670,195 | \$0 | -\$7,656,192 | -\$1,559,463 | \$0 | | |
| | | | | Ø | | | Distribution | | Triangular | Triangular | Triangular | Triangular | nfluence.) | Triangular | Triangular | Uniform | Triangular | Triangular | Uniform | | |
| h Higt | h Higł | rate High | w High | çal Crisi | | | Cost Risk Level | f influence.) | Moderate | Moderate | Moderate | Moderate | DT's sphere of i | High | High | High | High | High | Moderate | N/A | |
| Hig | n Hig | ate Mode | , | cant Criti | Occurrence | / | Impact | DT's sphere o | Marginal | Marginal | Significant | Significant | ly outside the F | Significant | Significant | Significant | Significant | Significant | Marginal | N/A | |
| ate Hig | ate Hig | / Moder | , Lov | nal Signifio | equence of | / | Likelihood | lled within the F | Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Unlikely | olled exclusive | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | Likely | N/A | |
| Low Moder | Low Moder | Low Low | Low Low | Negligible Margi | Impact or Cons | | sues os for more detailed iptions) | ated, caused, or contro | ed under or over estimated / quality and or storms prior struction. | ed under or over estimated / quality and or storms prior struction. | is in the borrow areas and differ from data reviewed . Dredge volumes to meet Id differ. (Component 1 of 3 uction Risk) | s in the borrow areas and differ from data reviewed . Dredge volumes to meet Id differ. (Component 1 of 3 uction Risk) | erated, caused, or contr | ts could have an impact on ject cost. | redging operations in open vinter season and during a ason. (Component 2 of 3 for tion Risk) | iency with long pipeline and ers. (Component 3 of 3 for titon Risk) | iders responding to volatile higher bid prices. | h changing steel prices he cost of pipe. | i equipment may need to be luring construction due to a ane event | urn to forecast value | |
| Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Very Unlikely | | | | ls: (See Element Tab descr | those that are gener | Material volumes requir due to survey coverage to con | Material volumes requir due to survey coverage to con | Geotechnical condition restoration areas may during feasibility stage required fill volumes cou for Prod | Geotechnical condition restoration areas may during feasibility stage required fill volumes cou for Prod | re those that are gen | Fluctuations in fuel cos the pro | Risks associated with d Gulf especially during v severe tropical storm se: Produc | Risk in Productivity/effic required number boost Produc | Risk associated with bio markets with | Risks associated wir increasing t | Dredge and Construction moved off of an island c hurrics | Placeholder to re | |
| II.LGI | ן סכנו | o poc | n i Isai | | | | Risk Event | isks (Internal Risk Items are | Aarsh Fill Design Quantities | 3each Fill Design Quantities | 3eotechnical Issues seach/Dune Borrow Area | ∋eotechnical Issues Marsh 3orrow Area | Risks (External Risk Items a | -uel Prices | severe Weather Downtime | ong Pipeline to Island for seach Fill | 3idder's Risk in Volatile //arket | ³ ipeline Steel Prices | lurricane Demob/Re-mob | NI Other Project Cost Placeholder) | |
| | | | | | | | Risk No. | Internal R | PED-1 | PED-2 E | 6 PED-11 B | 6 PED-12 B | External F | PR-2 F | PR-3 S | L PR-5 E | E PR-7 N | PR-8 F | PR-14 F | र र | |

| Schedule Risk Analvsis Simulation | |
|-----------------------------------|-----------|
| struction - Initial Restoration | isk Level |
| First Component of Cons | R |
| I CA TBBSR - | |

| Low Moderate High High High | Low Moderate High High High | Low Low Moderate Moderate High | Low Low Low High | Negligible Marginal Significant Critical Crisis Impact or Consequence of Occurrence |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|--|
| Very Likely | Likely | Unlikely | Very Unlikely | |

| | | | / | / | / | | Sche | edule Crystal Ball Simula | tion |
|----------|---|---|------------------|-----------------|------------------------|---------------|-------|---------------------------|------|
| Risk No. | Risk Event | sənssı | Likelihood | Impact | Schedule Risk Level | Distribution | мот | Likely | High |
| Internal | Risks (Internal Risk Items are | those that are generated, caused, or contru | olled within the | PDT's sphere (| of influence.) | | | | |
| PED-1 | Marsh Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior to or during construction. | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Triangular | -0.08 | 0.00 | 0.07 |
| PED-2 | Beach Fill Design Quantities | Material volumes required under or over estimated due to survey coverage / quality and or storms prior to or during construction. | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -1.07 | 0.00 | 1.07 |
| PED-11 | Geotechnical Issues Beach/Dune Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. (Component 1 of 3 for Production Risk) | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -0.28 | 0.00 | 1.61 |
| PED-12 | Geotechnical Issues Marsh Borrow Area | Geotechnical conditions in the borrow areas and restoration areas may differ from data reviewed during feasibility stage. Dredge volumes to meet required fill volumes could differ. (Component 1 of 3 for Production Risk) | Unlikely | Significant | Moderate | Triangular | -0.10 | 0.00 | 0.19 |
| Externa | I Risks (External Risk Items ar | e those that are generated, caused, or con- | trolled exclusiv | ely outside the | PDT's sphere o | f influence.) | | | |
| PR-1 | Sponsor's Ability to Fund Its Share | Procuring funds from the non-federal sponsor has been known to take long periods of time in the past. | Likely | Significant | High | Uniform | 00.0 | 0.00 | 6.00 |
| PR-3 | Severe Weather Downtime | Risks associated with dredging operations in open Gulf especially during winter season and during a severe tropical storm season. (Component 2 of 3 for Production Risk) | Likely | Significant | High | Triangular | -3.04 | 00.0 | 2.33 |
| PR-4 | Delays due to Design Modifications | Modifications to design could be required at time of construction. | Likely | Significant | High | Uniform | 00.0 | 0.00 | 2.00 |
| PR-5 | Long Pipeline to Island for Beach Fill | Risk in Productivity/efficiency with long pipeline and required number boosters. (Component 3 of 3 for Production Risk) | Likely | Significant | High | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 2.97 |
| PR-10 | Dredge Acquisition | Dredges for the project may not be available at all times. | Likely | Significant | High | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 6.00 |
| PR-14 | Hurricane Demob/Re-mob | Construction equipment may need to be moved off of an island during construction due to a hurricane event | Likely | Marginal | Moderate | Uniform | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.74 |
| | All Other Project Time (Placeholder) | Placeholder to return to forcast value | | | | | | 34.60 | |